THE CAUSE OF THE INCREASED COLON CANCER MORTALITY RATE IN NEWFOUNDLAND & LABRADOR: A STUDY COMPARING SURVIVAL IN NEWFOUNDLAND & LABRADOR AND ONTARIO POPULATION-BASED COHORTS

by Hayley L. Noseworthy

A Thesis submitted to the School of Graduate Studies in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the degree of

Master of Science in Medicine in Clinical Epidemiology

Memorial University of Newfoundland

May 2018

St. John's, Newfoundland & Labrador

ABSTRACT

Background: Colorectal cancer (CRC) is the second leading cause of cancer-related death among Canadian men and women. Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) has the highest CRC mortality rate in the country. To determine whether this resulted from increased CRC incidence, later stage or more adverse prognostic factors at diagnosis, or diminished survival by stage, colon cancer data was compared from NL (n=510) and Ontario (ON) (n=906) cohorts.

Methods: Predicted and actual CRC incidence and death rates were obtained. Survival analysis was conducted for stages 1-3 colon cancer patients in the 2 cohorts. Multivariate models included sex, stage and age at diagnosis, microsatellite instability, body mass index, smoking status, and adjuvant treatment.

Results: Estimated age-standardized incidence rates in NL were 34% higher in men and 21% higher in women than in ON, comparatively. Actual NL incidence rates were 55% and 53% higher in men and women than estimated. NL cases had improved survival compared to ON at stage 2 (p=.041), otherwise survival by stage was similar. Other adverse predictors of survival were similar between provinces.

Conclusion: NL's high CRC mortality rate can be attributed to increased incidence and not to adverse prognostic indicators or worse survival. This data supports the need for improved CRC screening strategies.

ACKNOWLEDGMENTS

The author wishes to thank her supervisory committee Dr. Patrick Parfrey, Dr. Elizabeth Dicks, and Dr. William Pollett for their support and contribution to this thesis. She would like to thank Andrea Kavanagh for IT and database support.

Betty – Thank you for always being in my corner. Your support over the years has meant so much.

Mom, Dad & Allison – Thank you for your endless encouragement throughout my graduate work and always. Motivational coffee breaks work wonders.

My husband, Nick – Thank you deeply for your constant support, patience, and understanding. On to the next chapter.

And to my baby boy, Cole – Your pending arrival was the ultimate deadline!

TABLE OF CONTENTS

ABSTRACT	ii
ACKNOWLEDGMENTS	
LIST OF TABLES	
LIST OF FIGURES	
ABBREVIATIONS	ix
LIST OF APPENDICES	xi
Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION	1
1.1 Staging	2
1.2 Colon Cancer vs Rectal Cancer	3
1.3 CRC Mortality in Canada	4
1.4 CRC Incidence and Mortality in Newfoundland and Labrador	4
1.5 Factors in CRC Incidence and Survival	5
1.5.1 Modifiable Risk Factors	5
1.5.2 Familial CRC	10
1.5.3 Hereditary CRC	11
1.6 Hereditary Risk Screening	13
1.7 CRC Screening	16
1.8 Treatment	21
1.9 Survival	23
1.10 Thesis Objectives	28
Chapter 2 METHODS	29
2.1 Ethical Considerations	29
2.2 Cancer Statistics	29
2.3 Case Ascertainment	30
2.4 Data Collection	31
2.5 Survival Analysis Models	31
2.6 Statistical Analysis	33
Chapter 3 RESULTS	35
3.1 Predicted Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	

3.2 Actual Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	35
3.3 Predicted Number of Deaths	35
3.4 Predicted Age-Standardized Mortality Rates	36
3.5 Actual Number of Deaths	36
3.6 Actual Age-Standardized Mortality Rates	37
3.7 Recruitment	37
3.8 Patient Demographics and Clinical Characteristics	38
3.9 Univariate Survival Analysis	41
3.10 Multivariate Survival Analysis	42
Chapter 4 DISCUSSION	44
4.1 Canadian Cancer Statistics	45
4.2 Differences in Prognostic Variables	47
4.3 Univariate Survival Analysis	50
4.4 Multivariate Survival Analysis	51
4.5 Limitations	53
CONCLUSION	55
REFERENCES	57

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1A:	CRC Predicted Deaths in Males and Females	
	in Canada, ON, NL in 2006	66
Table 1B:	CRC Predicted Deaths in Males and Females	
	in Canada, ON, NL in 2009	66
Table 2A:	CRC Actual Number of Deaths in Males and Females	
	in Canada, ON, and NL in 2006	67
Table 2B:	CRC Actual Number of Deaths in Males and Females	
	in Canada, ON, and NL in 2009	67
Table 3:	Patient Demographics and Clinical Characteristics	68
Table 4:	Patient Demographic Comparisons Between NL and ON	69
Table 5:	Adjuvant Treatment Administered in NL and ON by Stage	70
Table 6:	BMI in NL and ON by Gender	71
Table 7:	Smoking Status in NL and ON by Gender	72
Table 8:	Non-Enrolled NL Colon Cancer Cases	73
Table 9:	Univariate Analysis Overall Stages 1-4 Including	
	Unknown Stage Cases Comparing NL and ON	74
Table 10:	Univariate Analysis Overall Stages 1-4 Excluding	
	Unknown Stage Cases Comparing NL and ON	75
Table 11A:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 1 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	76
Table 11B:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 2 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	77
Table 11C:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 3 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	78
Table 11D:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 4 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	79
Table 12:	Univariate Analysis Overall Stages 1-3 Comparing NL and ON	80

Table 13:	Multivariate Survival Analysis Stages 1-3 Overall	81
Table 14A:	Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 1	82
Table 14B:	Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 2	83
Table 14C:	Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 3	84

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1A:	CRC Predicted Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Males (1996-2011)	85
Figure 1B:	CRC Predicted Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Females (1996-2011)	85
Figure 2A:	CRC Actual Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Males (1996-2006)	86
Figure 2B:	CRC Actual Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Females (1996-2006)	86
Figure 3A:	CRC Predicted Age-Standardized Mortality Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Males (1996-2011)	87
Figure 3B:	CRC Predicted Age-Standardized Mortality Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Females (1996-2011)	87
Figure 4A:	CRC Actual Age-Standardized Mortality Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Males (2006, 2009)	88
Figure 4B:	CRC Actual Age-Standardized Incidence Rates	
	for Canada, ON, NL in Females (2006, 2009)	88
Figure 5:	NFCCR Colon Participant Recruitment	89
Figure 6:	OFCCR Colon Participant Recruitment	90
Figure 7A:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 1 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	91
Figure 7B:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 2 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	92
Figure 7C:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 3 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	93
Figure 7D:	Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 4 Colon Cancer in NL & ON	94

ABBREVIATIONS

- AC Amsterdam Criteria
- ACII Amsterdam Criteria II
- AJCC American Joint Committee on Cancer
- ASIR Age-Standardized Incidence Rate
- ASMR Age-Standardized Mortality Rate
- BG Bethesda Guidelines
- BMI Body Mass Index
- CAG Canadian Association of Gastroenterology
- CCS Canadian Cancer Statistics
- CDHF Canadian Digestive Health Foundation
- CoxPH Cox Proportional Hazard
- CRC Colorectal Cancer
- CPG Clinical Practice Guidelines
- CTFPHC Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care
- FAP Familial Adenomatous Polyposis
- FCCTX Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X
- FOBT Fecal Occult Blood Test
- FT Fecal Test
- FTi Immunochemical Fecal Test
- gFOBT Guaiac Fecal Occult Blood Test
- HNPCC Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer
- HR Hazard Ratio
- KM Kaplan Meier

LML – Log Minus Log

LS - Lynch Syndrome

MMR – Mismatch Repair

- MSI Microsatellite Instability
- MSI-H Microsatellite Instability-High
- MSI-L Microsatellite Instability-Low
- MSS Microsatellite stable
- NCCSN National Colorectal Cancer Screening Network
- NFCCR Newfoundland and Labrador Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry
- NIH National Institutes of Health
- NL Newfoundland and Labrador
- OFCCR Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry
- ON-Ontario
- OR Odds Ratio
- PHAC Public Health Agency of Canada
- RBG Revised Bethesda Guidelines
- RR Relative Risk

LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A:	Amsterdam Criteria I & II	95
Appendix B:	Bethesda & Revised Bethesda Guidelines	96

Chapter 1 INTRODUCTION

Colorectal cancer (CRC) is cancer of the large intestine including cancers of both the colon and rectum. The colon extends from the cecum, or end of the small intestine, to the rectum. The colon is further comprised of the right, transverse, and left colon. The right side includes the cecum, ascending colon, and hepatic flexure. The left side includes the splenic flexure, descending colon, and sigmoid colon. The rectum then extends from the sigmoid colon to the anus.

Colorectal cancer develops from a polyp, a precancerous bulging tissue mass that protrudes from the epithelial lining of the colon or rectum. Polyps develop on the intestinal wall and continue to grow until they develop into a malignant, cancerous tumour. Adenomas are a group of polyps that account for most CRC tumours.¹ Adenocarcinoma is then cancer that has developed from an adenomatous polyp.

Polyps may develop sporadically and without underlying heritable contribution, leading to sporadic colorectal cancer. They may also develop due to familial risk where cases present in some families at a higher rate than expected by chance. Familial risk is defined as having two or more first- or second- degree relatives with CRC. Causes of familial cancer development are unknown, however possible contributors are similar risk factors in lifestyle, diet or environment.

Polyps may also develop due to a hereditary condition such as Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC), including cases with Lynch Syndrome (LS) or Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X (FCCTX). LS is an autosomal dominant hereditary predisposition for malignancy explained by a germline mutation in a DNA mismatch repair (MMR) gene.² There tends to be multiple generations affected with CRC at an early age (mean of approximately 45 years) with tumour predominance in the proximal colon and an excess of extracolonic cancers.

FCCTX is a condition of autosomal dominant inheritance of CRC that does not have a germline MMR mutation but rather has unknown genetic basis.³ Compared to LS, FCCTX families have a lower predisposition to CRC (2.3 vs 6.1), are not associated with developing extracolonic cancers, tend to have older mean age at diagnosis (50-60 years vs 45 years), and tumours are more likely to be located in the distal colon or rectum.

Whether sporadic, familial, or heritable, distinct characteristics are evident in the pathway leading to development of CRC. There are different implications in treatment, testing for tumour markers, follow-up and involvement of family members in sporadic vs hereditary CRC patients so it is therefore important to differentiate the underlying nature of CRC.

1.1 Staging

CRC is staged at diagnosis to describe the degree to which cancer is present in the body. Cancer stage is one of the most important factors in determining prognosis and treatment recommendations. Cases included in this thesis were staged using the guidelines of the American Joint Committee on Cancer (AJCC), also known as the TNM system. The TNM system incorporates 3 elements to determine cancer extent:

- "T" examines the extent of the tumour's spread through the various layers that comprise the wall of the colon and rectum;
- "N" indicates if or to what extent the cancer has spread to the lymph nodes;
- "M" describes whether the cancer has metastasized to distant organs.

CRC cases in the Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry (NFCCR) are staged at the time of initial diagnosis as stage1-4 using the TNM system as follows:

Stage I: (T1, N0, M0 or T2, N0, M0) – Cancer has grown through the muscularis mucosa into the submucosa (T1) *or* may have also grown into the muscularis propria (T2), with no spread to lymph nodes or distant sites.

Stage II: (T3, N0, M0 or T4, N0, M0) – Cancer has grown into outermost layers of the colon or rectum but has not reached nearby organs *or* has grown through wall of the colon or rectum into other nearby tissues or organs, with no spread to lymph nodes or distant sites. **Stage III:** (T1, N1, M0 or T2, N1, M0) – Cancer has grown through mucosa into submucosa (T1) *or* may have also grown into muscularis propria (T2). It has spread to 1-3 nearby lymph nodes but not distant sites; *or* (T3, N1, M0 or T4, N1, M0) – Cancer has grown into outermost layers of colon or rectum but has not reached nearby organs *or* has grown through wall of 1-3 nearby lymph nodes but not distant sites; *or* (Any T, N2, M0) – Cancer may or may not have grown through wall of colon or rectum, has spread to 4 or more nearby lymph nodes, but not spread to distant sites.

Stage IV: (Any T, Any N, M1) – Cancer may or may not have grown through wall of colon or rectum and may or may not have spread to nearby lymph nodes. It has spread to distant sites such as the liver, lung, peritoneum, or ovary.

1.2 Colon Cancer versus Rectal Cancer

Cancer of the colon is the most common of CRCs comprising about 70%, with rectal cancer comprising 30%.⁴ Relatively few studies in the literature differentiate between colon and rectal cancer; analyses and results are generally pooled together as CRC. While CRC is often considered to be one disease, colon and rectal cancers are likely to have etiological differences.⁴⁻⁶

Modifiable risk factors do not appear to contribute equally to colon and rectal cancers.^{4,7-10} Even right and left subsections of colon cancers may each have distinct etiologies.⁴ Further, treatment recommendations differ for colon and rectal cancers.¹¹ Hereditary CRCs also affect cancers of the colon and rectum uniquely.^{4,12} Another important difference is anatomic in that the distal rectum does not have a serosal covering. Because cancer of the colon or rectum each involve unique anatomy and etiology, colon and rectal cancers should be considered different diseases. Analyses for this Master's thesis will focus on cancer of the colon.

1.3 CRC Mortality in Canada

According to Canadian Cancer Statistics, almost half of all Canadians will develop cancer in their lifetime and 1 in 4 Canadians will die from it. Colorectal cancer is the second leading cause of cancer-related death in both men and women in Canada.¹³ In 2015 there were 9300 expected CRC-related deaths in Canada, including 5100 men and 4200 women. Estimated age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs per 100,000 people) of CRC in Canada for 2015 were 22 in males and 14 in females.

1.4 CRC Incidence and Mortality in Newfoundland & Labrador

The lifetime risk of developing CRC is 7%.14 Newfoundland and Labrador (NL) has the highest incidence of CRC of all the Canadian provinces and 27% higher than the Canadian average.¹⁵ Green et al (2007) attribute such high incidence of CRC in NL to hereditary factors, both familial and genetic.¹⁵

NL has the highest CRC mortality rate in Canada.¹³ The predicted ASMR for males was 38 and 21 for females in NL, compared in Ontario (ON) to 20 in males and 13 in females. ON

ASMRs were comparable to the national ASMRs. In 2015, it was estimated that there would be 240 expected deaths from CRC in NL. CRC is the second leading cause of cancer-related death for men and third leading cause of cancer-related death for women in NL.

Higher mortality rates in NL may be due to either increased CRC incidence due to hereditary conditions or exposure to modifiable risk factors, worse prognosis at time of diagnosis, or level of care and treatment, resulting in lower survival rates. Known prognostic indicators of CRC include stage of disease at the time of diagnosis, age, and tumour microsatellite instability (MSI) status.^{16,17} MSI exists in tumours that exhibit MMR mutations. MMR proteins repair sections of DNA by removing sequence errors that can lead to cancer development.

1.5 Factors in CRC Incidence and Survival

1.5.1 Modifiable risk factors

Evidence in the literature suggests a relationship exists between lifestyle factors, CRC incidence, and survival. Primary prevention of CRC involves controlling modifiable risk factors such as diet, obesity, smoking, and alcohol consumption. Reducing such risk factors could substantially decrease the risk of CRC development in the general population and complement screening to reduce CRC incidence and improve survival.⁹

Diet

Diet is one of the most important modifiable risk factors linked with CRC. There is inconsistency in the literature in attributing specific dietary factors (red meat vs. poultry, fish or plant-sourced proteins, fiber, and fruits and vegetables, among others) to CRC incidence and mortality.^{9,18-20}

Red meat consumption and its relationship to CRC development has been widely studied with varying results. Chan and Giovannucci (2010) report an increase in colon cancer risk and adenoma development in people with high red meat intake.⁹ A meta-analysis of meat consumption and CRC similarly concludes that red meat and processed meat increase risk of CRC.²¹ Tumour recurrence, metastasis, and death has been reported significantly higher among CRC patients that followed a high processed meat dietary pattern, characterized by high intakes of red meat, fish, and processed meat and fish.²² Processed meat may present a stronger risk factor than fresh red meat.^{23,24} There may also be an association between how red meat is cooked and CRC risk, as risk may be higher with consumption of heavily browned meat or that cooked at high temperatures for a long period of time.⁹ In contrast, it has also been reported that there is little evidence of association between red meat and processed meat consumption and CRC risk.¹⁸ An NL population study on red meat consumption could not conclude that increased red meat consumption increased CRC risk.²⁵ Similar studies in ON populations found that consumption and cRC risk in their population.^{25,26}

A significant relationship has been reported between pickled red meat consumption and increased CRC risk in NL, with a possible dose-response effect.²⁵ Pickled red meat (meat preserved in brine solution) is a unique food in NL and is not as commonly consumed in other parts of Canada. Squires et al (2010) compared diets of an NL and ON population. An ON diet may be more representative of the Canadian diet overall as compared to the traditional NL diet. Differences noted between NL and ON diets may be indication that red meat intake is more

likely to work in conjunction with other factors such as genetics or environment, rather than independently, to predict CRC risk.

A diet high in caloric intake has been reported to increase CRC risk,^{19,27-31} while there appears to be an inverse relationship between CRC incidence and diets high in protein, fiber, and carbohydrates.^{19,28,32-35} While there has been little research on the effects of diet on CRC survival, it has also been reported that a high carbohydrate diet was related to increased CRC survival.³⁶ Total fat, saturated fatty acids, monounsaturated fatty acids, polyunsaturated fatty acids, and cholesterol have not been associated with increased CRC risk.¹⁹

While increasing consumption of fruits, vegetables, and dietary fiber are unlikely to prevent most CRCs, health benefits of a fiber-rich diet may be effective in managing chronic inflammation associated with gastrointestinal disorders which may play a role in increasing CRC incidence risk.⁹

Alcohol

There is inconclusive evidence in the literature regarding the relationship between alcohol consumption and CRC risk. A review by Chan and Giovannucci (2010) cites evidence that high alcohol consumption increases CRC risk,⁹ yet other studies have found no impact.^{19,37}

A study of NL cases showed that the effect of alcohol consumption on developing CRC may be worsened by obesity.³⁷ Among obese subjects, alcohol intake was positively associated with CRC risk (OR=2.2), increasing in a linear trend with reported increasing number of drinking years.

Physical activity

An inverse relationship is consistently reported between physical activity and incidence of both colon adenoma and carcinoma in both prospective cohort and case-control studies.⁹ This relationship remains true when controlling for other healthy lifestyle factors and is observed in both leisure and occupational physical activity.⁹ Physically active people have been found to be at 20-30% decreased risk of colon cancer incidence compared to those less active.⁹ Even without weight loss, physical activity itself appears to lower risk, and the association appears to be stronger for colon cancer than rectal cancer.^{4,9} Obese individuals with sedentary lifestyles may have higher colon cancer risk than obese individuals leading physically active lifestyles, particularly in those with high abdominal obesity and waist circumference.³⁸

Obesity & waist circumference

An association between obesity as measured by Body Mass Index (BMI) and increased risk of CRC has been reported.^{9,39,40} The association appears to be stronger in men than women and for colon cancer compared to rectal cancer.^{5,9,39,41} The mechanism between the obesity and CRC incidence relationship is not well-established in the literature,^{9,38,41} however it may be linked to the obesity-induced effects of insulin, leptin, chronic inflammation, and steroid hormones.⁴¹ Results for women are less consistent than men, possibly due to the effect of estrogen on cancer development.⁴ One study reported that individuals categorized as having an overweight BMI had a 30-40% increased colon cancer risk, and those with obese BMI had a 60-80% increased risk compared to individuals with normal BMI.^{38,41} Overweight and obese men have been found to have similar CRC risk, irrespective of familial risk of cancer.⁴¹

A relationship also appears between CRC incidence in both men and women and abdominal obesity as measured by waist circumference and waist-to-hip ratio.^{5,9,39} Waist circumference may be a stronger predictor of colon cancer risk than BMI.^{5,38,39} A linear effect has been reported between male and female waist size and colon cancer incidence in particular.³⁸

Smoking

The relationship between cigarette smoking, adenoma formation, CRC incidence and CRC survival is well documented.^{7,9,42,43} A systematic review and meta-analysis of 36 prospective studies investigated the impact of cigarette smoking on CRC risk.⁷ Compared to patients who never smoked, current smokers had significantly increased risk of CRC incidence (RR=1.15) and mortality (RR=1.40). Current smokers were also more likely to be diagnosed at a later stage of disease. This may be due to more rapid cancer progression or because current smokers are less likely to have health-conscious behaviours and practices than never or former smokers. Compared to never smokers, former smokers were at significantly increased risk of CRC incidence (RR=1.10) and mortality (RR=1.27). Further, a significant increased risk of CRC incidence and mortality was reported with increasing daily cigarette consumption, as well as a dose-response gradient between daily cigarette consumption and CRC mortality.

Pre-diagnosis cigarette smoking has been associated with diminished survival for patients with CRC.^{42,43} It has been reported that smoking is associated with worse survival particularly in patients diagnosed at early stage disease, yet may have a negligible impact on survival for patients diagnosed with advanced stage disease.⁴²

Cigarette smoking has been found to increase CRC risk in a NL study population.⁸ Former and current smokers were found to have significantly higher risk of CRC incidence than non-smokers (OR=1.36 & 1.96).⁸ Risk increased significantly with the number of smoking years, number of cigarettes smoked daily, and pack-years, and decreased significantly with years absent from smoking. There is conflicting evidence that earlier age of smoking initiation increases CRC risk.^{7,8} In comparison with non-smokers, former and current smokers were at significantly elevated risk of CRC.⁸ The association was stronger among cases who consumed alcohol and in men.⁸

1.5.2 Familial CRC

Family history is a strong predictor of CRC development. Familial risk is defined as having two or more first- or second- degree relatives with CRC.⁴⁴ Approximately 20% of all patients with CRC have a familial predisposition for developing CRC.⁴⁴

Green et al (2007) conclude that genetic, or at least familial, factors are responsible for the excess cancer incidence in NL compared to the Canadian average. This is supported by the significantly higher proportion of high and intermediate risk families when compared to ON and other non-Canadian centres.¹⁵ Indicators of familial risk were significantly higher in NL compared to ON and 13 other population-based studies. Of NL cases, 31% had at least 1 firstdegree relative affected with CRC, compared to 20.4% in ON. The NL rate was 85% greater than the mean from 5 other non-Canadian centers included in their analysis.

The island of NL has a geographically and genetically isolated population comprised almost entirely of people from a limited founder population.^{15,45,46} Approximately 95% of Newfoundlanders are from specific regions of England and Ireland.¹⁵ In contrast, there is

considerable ethnic and racial diversity in the ON population and Canadian population overall. NL has been the focus of numerous studies on hereditary diseases involving the province's relatively young population of fewer than 20 generations.⁴⁶ Due to its limited founder population, it has been proposed that the high rate of familial CRC in NL is genetic in origin and attributable to founder effects. A founder effect has been observed in several other inherited diseases, which are observed at unusually high or low rates in the NL population.¹⁵

1.5.3 Hereditary CRC

Approximately 5-10% of CRC cases can be attributed to dominantly inherited, highly penetrant autosomal syndromes. Hereditary Non-Polyposis Colorectal Cancer (HNPCC) is an umbrella term for several hereditary conditions, including Lynch Syndrome (LS) and Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X (FCCTX).

HNPCC and LS are often erroneously referred to synonymously in the literature. It is therefore challenging to distinguish between the two in literature review. While they are overlapping conditions, they are not synonymous.^{47,48} The term HNPCC was developed to identify families who presented with certain criteria as outlined in Amsterdam Criteria I and II (Appendix A). However, with the discovery of the genetic mechanism underlying HNPCC in 1993, the term HNPCC should have been abolished.

Lynch Syndrome

LS is a hereditary predisposition to malignancy due to a germline mutation in DNA mismatch repair (MMR) genes.⁴⁸ LS is autosomal dominant where first-degree relatives of mutation carriers have a 50% chance of inheritance.⁴⁹ LS is the most common of hereditary

CRCs both in NL¹⁵ and globally.⁴⁴ Approximately 3% of all CRCs present in families with LS.^{16,44} NL has been found to have the highest incidence of LS-related CRC in the world.¹⁵

LS is associated with inherited genetic mutations in at least one of several MMR genes that lead to microsatellite instability (MSI).^{16,44} The human genome contains hundreds of thousands of short, repeated sequences of DNA known as microsatellites.⁴⁴ MMR proteins exist naturally in DNA and repair sections of DNA that have not properly replicated by removing sequence errors. Mutations that occur in MMR genes allow for erroneously replicated DNA to exist unchecked and thus microsatellites become unstable, leading to cancer development. Tumours that exhibit MMR mutations are referred to as exhibiting microsatellite instability (MSI). A tumour that does not exhibit MSI is microsatellite stable (MSS). MSI is present in all LS tumours.

MSI tumours have low- (MSI-L) or high-frequency (MSI-H) instability. MSI-L tumours show instability in 1 of 5 tumour markers, while MSI-H tumours show instability in at least 2 of 5 microsatellites. MSI-L and MSS tumours appear to be phenotypically similar in nature.⁵⁰ MSI-H tumours have unique clinical and pathological features and are seen in about 15% of all CRC tumours, including hereditary (~3%) and sporadic (~12%) CRC^{15,16,50} MSI-H tumours are found more frequently in the proximal colon,^{16,44} have unique histopathological features such as poor differentiation,^{16,44} and, when matched for stage, are less aggressive than MSI-L and MSS tumours.⁵⁰ Whether hereditary or sporadic, MSI-H tumours have slightly better prognosis than MSS tumours, however respond poorly to the standard 5 FU-based chemotherapy.^{16,47}

Because MSI is identified in about 12% of sporadic CRC cases, MSI alone is not a diagnostic feature of hereditary CRC. In addition to MMR mutations, environmental and

modifiable risk factors such as smoking and diet may also play a role in the development of MSI tumours, either acting alone or with MMR mutations.^{50,51}

While there are no identifiable phenotypic characteristics to distinguish between LS and sporadic CRC,^{3,15,52} there are some identifiable features prevalent in LS families. LS-related CRC tends to present at a younger age of onset, at approximately age 45 years, compared to sporadic CRC cases with approximate onset age of 63 years.^{16,44} LS cases are also at substantially elevated risk of developing extracolonic cancers, including gynecological cancers such as endometrial and ovarian, as well as cancers of the stomach, small bowel, pancreas, brain, and of the upper uroepithelial tract including renal pelvis and ureter.^{2,44,49,52,53}

Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X

The term Familial Colorectal Cancer Type X (FCCTX) was proposed by Lindor et al (2005) to describe families that meet AC but who do not have a germline DNA MMR mutation, named "Type X" due to unknown etiology. Known MMR gene defects account for over 95% of mutations that cause LS,⁵⁴⁻⁵⁸ however only 50-60% of families that meet the AC have a germline MMR defect.^{3,59} A large proportion of apparent hereditary CRC families studied in NL presented with CRC cases in the absence of an MMR defect, thus not qualifying as LS.^{45,60}

There are marked differences between LS and FCCTX families. FCCTX families have shown increased incidence of CRC only, yet still less than in germline mutation families.⁶¹ FCCTX families are further characterized as having MSS tumours, lower relative risk of CRC, absence of excess extra-colonic tumours, and a later age of onset of CRC compared to LS families, at approximately age 60.7 years.^{16,45,59-62} Compared to LS CRC tumours, FCCTX tumours present more frequently in the distal colon.^{60,62} Stage of disease at diagnosis has not

been found to differ between LS and FCCTX cases.⁶² Studies have more recently shown the novel genetic pathways of FCCTX that lead to cancer development.⁶¹

1.6 Hereditary Risk Screening

The Amsterdam Criteria (AC) is a series of criteria originally developed to help practitioners systematically identify LS families.^{15,50} Published in 1991, the AC was eventually found to be too strict for clinical use as it excluded patients diagnosed with extracolonic cancers, a feature of LS. To increase sensitivity, AC was modified in 1998 to become Amsterdam Criteria II (ACII) and include pathology other than CRC. Families who meet ACII that have an MMR germline mutation are considered LS, while those without a germline mutation are FCCTX.

There is conflicting evidence on the efficacy of the AC. Some reports have found adherence to ACII to be the most effective system to detect HNPCC families,⁵⁹ while others find only 50-60% of families that meet AC have an MMR defect.³ Because FCCTX patients tend to develop CRC after age 50, they do not meet the AC and may be missed by this screening criteria altogether.

Green et al (2007) compared NL to ON and 13 non-Canadian population-based cohorts to determine the proportion of NL CRC cases that met the AC. They reported that 3.7% of NL cases with high-familial risk met ACII, significantly higher than the aggregate from the high-familial risk cases from the other cohorts.¹⁵ It was higher, although not significantly, compared to the ON cohort.¹⁵

The Bethesda Guidelines (BG) were developed by the National Cancer Institute in 1997 to identify colorectal tumours that should be tested for MSI, with the goal to identify LS

patients⁶³ (Appendix B). To improve function, the guidelines were revised in 2004 to become the Revised Bethesda Guidelines (RBG).

There are reports that challenge the BG's accuracy and usability in identifying MSIpotential tumours and LS families. Evidence suggests strict use of the original BG to identify families for gene analysis results in reduced probability of mutation detection.⁵⁹ In comparing RBG and universal MMR screening to identify LS families, one study reported that 1.7% of patients met ACII and that, compared to the universal strategy, RBG failed to detect 14.3% of cases with LS and 57.1% of cases with probable non-sporadic MSI tumours.⁵¹ This means that 14.3% of LS patients did not meet RBG. Because the RBG exclude patients over age 60 years, adhering to the criteria could miss a substantial number of LS cases.⁶⁴ Morrison et al (2011) implemented a universal approach to LS screening and found it significantly increased the detection rate of potential LS patients to 20.7% from 8.5% through adherence to RBG.⁶⁴ Adherence to RBG missed 68.4% of MSI-H tumour cases because the patients were over age 60 years. While a universal screening paradigm found significantly more MSI-H tumours and therefore had increased likelihood of detecting LS families, testing all CRC tumours for MSI may not be clinically or financially feasible.

Differences are evident between LS and FCCTX families in terms of genetic syndrome screening, CRC screening, and cancer risk. Although known hereditary forms of CRC account for only 3-5% of all CRCs, it is important to screen for these conditions due to the very high risk of disease in these families. MMR germline mutation carriers are at approximately 80% lifetime risk of developing CRC⁵² as well as at increased risk of developing extra-colonic cancers. Since LS-related CRCs have also been found to respond differently to standard CRC chemotherapies, identifying MMR germline mutation carriers will help determine the best course of treatment.⁴⁹

Failure to detect genetic mutations can pose a serious impediment in implementing a comprehensive genetic and clinical screening program in high-risk families. Genetic screening is important in LS and FCCTX cases because of the lack of phenotype presentation in these cases.⁵² At least a three-generation family history has been deemed necessary to adequately determine hereditary-associated cancer.⁴⁴ Genetic testing should take place for LS when ACII or RBG have been met.⁵² Genetic counseling should occur prior to DNA collection and also when test results are disclosed.⁴⁴

There are benefits of genetic testing beyond identification of hereditary cancer risks. A positive mutation test result has been found to drastically increase patient compliance with colonoscopic screening programs.⁶⁵ There are patient risks associated with genetic testing such as psychological distress, anxiety, health insurance issues, and changes in the family dynamic.⁵² A risk estimation cut-off that is too high will overlook MMR mutations and lead to possible subsequent morbidity and mortality.⁴⁹ One that is too low will mean unnecessary patient investigation that can lead to increased health care costs, patient anxiety, and unnecessary invasive clinical screening.⁴⁹

Patients with CRC can also present with sporadic MSI tumours unrelated to hereditary CRC etiology. MMR mutations can occur naturally due to methylation of DNA, leading to MSI tumours. This happens more frequently in elderly patients. Patients who present with sporadic MSI CRC tumours tend to be older than patients with MSS tumours due to methylation (nonhereditary MSI due to natural MMR defects) which increases with advancing age.¹⁶

1.7 CRC Screening

CRC screening efficacy is well documented in the literature.^{9,44,52,66-69} Screening reduces CRC incidence through early detection of pre-cancerous polyps. It also diagnoses CRC in early stage of disease therefore improving likelihood of survival.^{52,66,68} Fecal occult blood testing (FOBT) including immunochemical fecal tests (FTi), sigmoidoscopy, and colonoscopy have all been shown to decrease incidence and mortality of CRC.^{52,66,70,71}

The Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care (CTFPHC) was established by the Public Health Agency of Canada (PHAC) to develop clinical practice guidelines that support primary care providers in delivering preventive health care. In response to lack of national guidance and variability in provincial screening programs, the CTFPHC released CRC screening recommendations in 2001 for people at normal and above-average risk of developing CRC.⁷² In 2016, the CTFPHC released an updated protocol and guidelines to include recommendations on appropriate populations to be screened, most appropriate screening tests, and interval and age to commence and cease screening.^{73,74} They recommend screening adults aged 50-74 years at population risk for CRC with FOBT, either guaiac fecal occult blood test (gFOBT) or FTi, every two years or flexible sigmoidoscopy every 10 years. They do not recommend screening adults aged 75 years and older or using colonoscopy to screen those at population risk unless as further follow-up screening post positive FOBT.

In 2004, the Canadian Association of Gastroenterology (CAG) and the Canadian Digestive Health Foundation (CDHF) collaborated to develop guidelines on colon cancer screening for people at average risk.⁷⁵ Given that cancer risk is greatly influenced by age, past medical history, and family history, they recommend asymptomatic individuals over age 50 years with negative family history should undergo average risk screening by method determined

by physician, patient preference, evidence and available resources. They recommend these individuals follow one of the following screening strategies: FOBT every 2 years, flexible sigmoidoscopy every 5 years, flexible sigmoidoscopy combined with FOBT every 5 years, double contract barium enema every 5 years, or colonoscopy every 10 years. These guidelines are in keeping with those recommended by both the American Gastroenterology Association and the British Society of Gastroenterology. The CAG further proposes screening guidelines for individuals at increased CRC risk including those with first-degree relatives with CRC, a family history suggesting definable genetic abnormality such as LS, Familial Adenomatous Polyposis (FAP), or long-standing inflammatory bowel disease.⁷⁵ In light of technology development and advances in clinical knowledge, the CAG released updated guidelines in 2010.⁷⁶

The CAG recommends colon cancer screening in Canada should be delivered through a programmatic regional or provincial program rather than through opportunistic screening. Opportunistic screening is performed outside of an organized screening program and often delivered through fee-for-service reimbursement of physicians. In comparison, programmatic population-based screening is an organized screening program that contains an explicit policy with specified age categories, a method and interval for screening, a defined target population, a management team responsible for implementation, a health care team responsible for decisions and care, a quality assurance structure, and a method for identifying cancer occurrence in the population.⁷⁶ Programmatic screening revolves around the quality of the screening process, including follow-up with program participants, thus providing greater protection against harms of screening including over-screening, poor quality and complications of screening, and poor follow-up of those who test positive.⁷⁶

Population-based CRC screening programs are currently in various stages of development across Canada.⁷⁰ In 2007, the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer created the National Colorectal Cancer Screening Network (NCCSN) in an effort to bring focus and attention to providing organized CRC screening to Canadians.⁷⁰ The NCCSN collaborates with numerous groups at both the national and provincial levels to plan and implement CRC screening in Canada. In an evaluation of CRC screening program adherence by province, the NCCSN compiled and analyzed quality indicators of fecal test (FT) screening.⁷⁰ FTs measure microscopic fecal blood amounts as markers that indicate if further colorectal investigation is required. In particular, FTi is gaining popularity in screening programs as it is more sensitive than other FTs. Individuals who test positive for markers in FTs are then referred for colonoscopy.

Of provinces involved, 70.9% of cancer detected by FT screening was diagnosed at early stage (1 or 2). The number of CRC cases diagnosed at later stage of disease should decrease as screening programs develop and participant recruitment increases in these programs. As of late 2012, CRC screening program adherence had not yet reached the national target of 60%,⁷⁰ and there is evidence to indicate fewer than half of eligible adults have participated in timely CRC screening (2012 Canadian Community Health Survey). The NCCSN further reports that screening program adherence in Canada is higher among women than men, and overall participation is highest in those ages 70-74 years.⁷⁰ Positivity rates for FOBT testing is higher in males and increases with age.⁷⁰

In 2012, NL released the Newfoundland and Labrador Colon Cancer Screening Program.⁷⁰ Program implementation was phased in, first servicing select areas of the province and then expanding to include all regions. FTi screening kits are available to all residents

through mailout delivery or through their general practitioner. The program targets people aged 50 to 74 years that are at population-risk of developing CRC. Without a wide-spread provincial screening program, individuals residing in rural areas have limited access to screening. The provincial screening strategy campaign in NL is expected to increase screening rates and allow for early detection of CRC, resulting in improved CRC-related survival.

In a 2007 study on CRC screening adherence in population-risk individuals, ON had the most up-to-date screening adherence with 20%. NL had lowest screening adherence at 12.6%.⁶⁷

CRC screening rates in Canada have not reached proposed targets.^{67,70} Guideline adherence is impacted by test availability, patient characteristics such as age and gender, and public health promotion. As provincial screening programs become more established, screening rates are expected to increase. Understanding screening rates and adherence allows researchers to examine how screening impacts cancer incidence, mortality, and morbidity.

Colonoscopy surveillance in hereditary CRC families has been found to reduce CRC incidence,^{44,77} and reduce mortality and morbidity by up to 70%.^{44,77,78} LS families, or those who have strong clinical evidence relating to LS, are recommended to get annual colonoscopies starting between ages 20 and 25.⁴⁴ Because of early age of onset and increased risk of associated extra-colonic cancers, early and more frequent screening is encouraged for LS families.^{3,44} Reports of lower incidence due to screening have been found particularly in the distal colon and rectum.⁶⁶ Screening the proximal colon, where LS cases present more frequently with adenomas, can be challenging.⁶⁶ In cases of FCCTX, it has been recommended that screening with colonoscopy start 5-10 years before the age of onset of the earliest family member diagnosed with CRC, with a frequency of no less than every 5 years.³ Screening in FCCTX

families, as in those with LS, is important as high incidence of adenoma formation can lead to carcinoma.

Hereditary CRC families exhibit a different survival pattern than those with familial or sporadic CRC.⁴⁴ Hereditary colorectal adenomas tend to develop into carcinomas more rapidly compared to sporadic polyps. Annual colonoscopy is recommended for patients with hereditary CRC as these polyps experience accelerated carcinogenesis compared to sporadic CRC polyps. A sporadic CRC polyp may take 8-10 years to develop into a carcinoma whereas an LS polyp can progress to carcinoma in 2-3 years.⁴⁴ This is evidence in support of more frequent cancer screening in hereditary CRC families.

1.8 Treatment

Surgical procedures most commonly performed in colon cancer treatment include local excision or resection to remove polyps or early stage superficial tumours from the colon lining, or bowel resection to remove part of the colon and associated lymph nodes.

Chemotherapy is also a common treatment for colon cancer, depending on the stage of disease at diagnosis and if the patient is at high risk of recurrence. Adjuvant therapy, or chemotherapy administered after surgery, is given to reduce risk of recurrence and increase likelihood of survival. In some cases, neoadjuvant therapy, or chemotherapy administered before surgery, is given to shrink tumours in an effort to allow surgery and improve outcomes. Radiation therapy is not routinely recommended for colon cancer patients.

The Canadian Cancer Society published Clinical Practice Guidelines (CPGs) for management of colon and rectal cancers in the Canadian Cancer Statistics 2011 manual.¹³ These guidelines were developed through Cancer Care Ontario's Program in Evidence-Based Care to

guide patients and practitioners in implementing treatment recommendations. For stage 1 colon cancer, surgical resection alone is the standard treatment recommendation. For stage 2 cases, adjuvant therapy is not routinely recommended unless the patient is at high risk for recurrence in which case they may be candidate for adjuvant therapy similar to that recommended for stage 3 cases. Stage 3 recommendations include adjuvant therapy. Recommendations for stage 4 cases include combination chemotherapy and possibly targeted therapy. Several factors must be considered when determining best course of treatment including stage of disease at diagnosis, location of the tumour, and patient characteristics such as age and risk of recurrence.

In 1991, the National Institutes of Health (NIH) published adjuvant therapy recommendations for patients with colon and rectal cancer.¹¹ For colon cancer, they recommend no adjuvant therapy for stage 1 cases. Adjuvant therapy is also not recommended for stage 2 cases unless patients present with high-risk features. They recommend adjuvant therapy for stage 3 cases. Regarding stage 4 cases, the NIH indicate that adjuvant therapy, by definition, is not applicable to cases that have metastatic disease, therefore these cases are excluded from their recommendations.

Wirtzfeld et al (2009) investigated concordance with CPGs in NL and ON colon cancer patients.⁷⁹ Patients were from the same data set as this thesis. Patients in both provinces diagnosed at stages 1 and 3 were treated according to CPGs. The proportion of low- to high-risk patients at stage 2 who had adjuvant treatment did not differ significantly between NL and ON. While patients diagnosed as high-risk stage 2 were more likely to receive adjuvant treatment than low-risk stage 2 patients, other information was used more frequently in addition to CPGs to determine best course of treatment for the high-risk cases.⁷⁹ For example, patient age (<50 years) influenced their course of treatment more so than risk status. This is of interest since

MSI-H tumours are linked to younger age of onset and also may not respond to widely-used 5-FU-based standard chemotherapeutics,¹⁶ and yet a strong trend of chemotherapy use was reported in younger groups, independent of high-risk status. Local factors such as resource allocation and access to treatment may also affect CPG adherence.⁷⁹

Treatment management requires the consideration of many patient and tumour characteristics.^{16,80} Boland and Goel (2010) note the potential that no two CRCs are alike, which presents a challenging task in treatment planning.¹⁶ Understanding variations in clinical practices and outcomes will help improve quality of care for patients with CRC.

1.9 Survival

Stage of cancer at the time of diagnosis is well supported as being the strongest predictor of CRC survival.^{6,12,17,69,80-85} Cases diagnosed at later stage of disease have worse prognosis than those diagnosed in earlier stages.

There is conflicting evidence in the literature regarding gender as a predictive prognostic factor in CRC survival. Some studies have reported that gender had no significant effect on survival^{6,80} while others reported women had improved survival compared to men.^{1,12,81,86,87}

A meta-analysis of 13 retrospective cohort studies and 1 randomized controlled trial reported that females had significantly better overall survival than males.⁸⁶ After adjusting for all known baseline patient characteristics, sex remained an independent prognostic factor in CRC survival. Evidence suggests that CRC survival differences between genders can be attributable to hormonal, genetic, immunological, or environmental differences.^{86,87}

A study on metastatic CRC reported that young women aged 18-44 years survived longer than young men, however older women aged 55+ had significantly worse survival than older

men.⁸⁷ Hormones may play a role in CRC prognosis as pre-menopausal women with metastatic CRC have shown improved survival, however as they age through menopause, their prognosis worsens.

Patient age at diagnosis is another predictor of CRC survival noted in the literature.^{1,6,80-}^{82,87,88} Younger cases tend to have improved survival compared to older cases as prognosis diminishes with increasing patient age. A study on patients under and over age 65 reported that cases under age 65 showed improved survival compared to those over age 65.⁸⁰ CRC was diagnosed in older patients at a later stage, which can subsequently influence treatment regimens and prognosis.

It has been reported that patients diagnosed before age 50 show more advanced stage disease and have more aggressive tumours compared to patients ages 80+, yet younger patients have better survival.¹ Worse prognosis in older patients may not be due to delayed diagnosis, but rather that delayed diagnosis may be more prevalent in younger patients. Consequently, improved survival in younger patients may be due to their receiving more aggressive treatment.¹ Adjuvant therapy is more frequently administered in younger patients compared to their elderly counterparts, and elderly cases also tend to have more comorbidities.⁸⁸ Treating physicians may believe the gain in giving aggressive treatment is reduced by presence of other illnesses and the physical toll treatment takes on older patients.

Adjuvant treatment has a positive effect on prognosis and survival.^{17,82,84,85} Improvements in survival due to adjuvant therapy have been reported for advanced CRC, including in patients over age 70 years.⁸²

Adjuvant chemotherapy is associated with improved survival in younger patients, and survival trends have differed significantly by age where stage has been associated with

significant improvement in survival for patients over age 75.¹⁷ Improvement over time in younger patients diagnosed at stage 3 in particular has been reported, potentially due to improvements in adjuvant treatment for these cases. Cancer survival is likely to improve with advancements in diagnostic and treatment procedures.

Obesity has been associated with reduced survival after CRC diagnosis.⁴⁰ A study on obesity as measured by BMI and waist-hip circumference in an Asian population reported that relative to normal BMI (18.5-24.9), cases categorized as having low (<18.5) and obese (\geq 30) BMI showed worse survival.⁸⁹ Overweight BMI (25.0-29.9) and waist-to-hip ratio were not associated with risk of death in CRC. BMI as a predictor of CRC mortality is represented in a U-shaped pattern, where cases in higher and lower BMI categories have worse prognosis.

BMI may affect colon cancer survival in men and women differently.⁹⁰ The relationship has been reported to be stronger in men in linear fashion across all BMI categories greater than 25.0, and strongest for BMI \geq 32.5. In women, BMI \geq 30 has shown significantly increased risk of colon cancer mortality. Men have a greater tendency for central adiposity which may be a contributing factor to the relationship between CRC and poor prognosis. Prolonged elevated insulin levels in high BMI patients may also impact colon cancer survival by acting as a tumour growth promoter. In women, reduced risk may be related to possible protective effects of estrogen.

There is inconclusive evidence on the effects of cigarette smoking on CRC survival. A study conducted on cases of the same cohorts included in this thesis reported pre-diagnosis cigarette smoking to be independently predictive of worse prognosis in CRC patients.¹⁰ Current smoking was significantly associated with increased risk of mortality, and a step-wise gradient was reported of decreasing mortality risk with increasing years of smoking abstinence for former
smokers. Smoking was associated with worse prognosis for colon cancer cases specifically, and decreased survival was reported in males only. Smoking was significantly associated with worse survival in patients diagnosed in early stage disease, suggesting newly diagnosed patients with early stage disease could see survival benefit by immediate smoking cessation. They also report smoking had little impact on survival in MSI-H tumour patients but was associated with high mortality risk in cases diagnosed with MSS/MSI-L tumours.

In contrast, another study reported that smoking is associated with increased CRC mortality in both men and women, with a significantly higher mortality risk from rectal cancer in males and colon cancer in females.⁹¹ Other reports indicate a relationship between smoking and increased mortality after CRC diagnosis with especially pronounced negative effects for MSI-H cases.⁹²

Patients that have MSI-H tumours are shown to have better survival rates than those with sporadic CRC.^{12,93-95} Patients with MSI tumours have longer survival times (even when diagnosed at stage 4), earlier stage of disease at diagnosis, and are less likely to have metastatic cancer compared to MSS patients.¹⁶ Evidence shows that the detection of MSI in CRC patients is a positive prognostic factor, particularly in young patients. There is limited evidence in the literature to differentiate between how LS MSI and sporadic MSI patients respond to traditional chemotherapy treatment.¹⁶ Since sporadic MSI CRC cases are more common than LS cases in MSI treatment response studies, it is possible that sporadic cases are those represented in these treatment studies.¹⁶

In a meta-analysis looking at relationship between MSI and CRC prognosis, they found an association between MSI and improved survival of CRC patients.⁹⁵ They also found a

significant beneficial effect of 5-FU therapy for MSS tumour but could not make a clear conclusion for MSI tumours. MSI can be used as a prognostic and predictive marker of survival.

Investigating colon cancer specifically, one study found MSI-H status is an independent prognostic factor that improves survival in colon cancer.¹² They found that significantly more females than males had MSI-H tumours. MSI-H was a favorable factor for overall survival. The average age of cases with MSI-H and MSI-L/MSS tumours was the same so improved survival was not due to earlier age at diagnosis. MSI-H had a favorable prognosis over MSI-L and MSS tumours.

Another study compared survival of HNPCC patients to sporadic CRC patients diagnosed under age 65 years and found that relative survival rates for HNPCC cases were higher than in sporadic cases.⁹⁴ Stage at diagnosis was similar in both groups so this difference was not due to stage. They suggest the malignant potential of HNPCC tumours does not fully develop as it does with sporadic cases, and that the same genetic defect that is responsible for the tumour development may also reduce the viability of the cancer cells.

Having family history of CRC is related to increased incidence of the disease however it has also been investigated as being a predictor of survival. Evidence suggests that family history itself does not appear to be related to better survival.^{1,96} Family history showed no significant effect on survival.¹ Patients with family history of CRC are more likely to have MSI-H tumours, and MSI-H cases tend to have improved survival over MSS or MSI-L cases. Family history has been found not to be a determinant of tumour characteristics.¹

1.10 Thesis Objectives

The primary objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. To assess whether there is a difference in overall survival between NL and ON colon cancer patients
- 2. To determine why cases from NL appear to have a worse prognosis when diagnosed with colon cancer compared to their ON counterparts
- 3. To evaluate whether there are differences in mortality, predictors at presentation, and treatment associated with colon cancer survival between NL and ON

The secondary objectives of this thesis are:

- 1. To develop a strong knowledge of the steps and processes involved in conducting expert ethical research that will allow for a future career in clinical epidemiology
- 2. To contribute to the knowledge already present in colorectal cancer by providing relevant new information for the care and treatment of individuals with colon cancer

Chapter 2 METHODS

2.1 Ethical Considerations

Ethical approval was sought and granted from the Human Investigation Committee of the Faculty of Medicine at Memorial University of Newfoundland. Data were collected and analyzed directly from existing patient files and questionnaires obtained through previous research projects in accordance with the Newfoundland Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry (NFCCR) and Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry (OFCCR). For this thesis project, only de-identified patient information using unique personal code was entered into an SPSS database. Electronic files were accessible to the investigator through use of a computer password. All patient files were kept in locked cabinets where only the investigator and designated researchers had access.

2.2 Cancer Statistics

Estimated numbers of new incident cases and age-standardized incidence rates (ASIRs) for Canada, ON, and NL were obtained from the Canadian Cancer Statistics (CCS) manual (2011). Actual numbers of new incident cases and ASIRs for Canada were also obtained from the CCS manual (2011). Actual ASIRs in ON and NL were confirmed through reports from provincial agencies from 1996-2006, prepared for the Colorectal Cancer Network (CRCNet), an initiative of the Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. Similarly, estimated numbers of new incident cases and age-standardized mortality rates (ASMRs) for Canada, ON, and NL were obtained from the CCS manual (2011). The actual number of deaths and ASMRs for Canada, ON, and NL were obtained through CCS (2011-2016) and further for ON through provincial

agencies as prepared for CRCNet report. Actual ASMRs for NL were available for 2006, 2009, 2010 and 2012 only.

2.3 Case Ascertainment

The NFCCR was established in 1999 through Canadian Institutes of Health Research funding and modelled based on the OFCCR. The NFCCR is a population-based cohort that has reported incident cases of colorectal carcinomas identified through the NL provincial cancer registry and diagnosed between January 1st, 1999 and December 31st, 2003. Patient follow-up data was collected up to April 30th, 2010. Patients between the ages of 20 and 74 years and diagnosed within the specified inclusion timeframe were invited to participate. Cases completed a family history questionnaire and risk factor questionnaires, and were also asked to provide a blood sample and allow access to their tumour tissue and medical records. For this thesis project, 510 incident cases of colon cancer were recruited from the NFCCR. For deceased subjects, their proxies were invited to participate.

The OFCCR was established in 1997 and is one of several international sites involved in the National Cancer Institute-funded Cooperative Familial Registry for Colorectal Studies. The OFCCR utilized the population-based Ontario Cancer Registry to recruit incident colorectal cancer diagnoses spanning January 1st, 1997 to December 31st, 2000. Follow-up data collection was completed in 2010 for OFCCR cases. Registrants with incident cases of colon cancer were asked to participate and 906 cases were recruited. The OFCCR included 25% of low familial risk cases. No proxies were recruited as the OFCCR did not obtain proxy consent, which systematically excluded patients who died 1-2 years after diagnosis.

An amendment to a previously submitted application was reviewed by the NIH-funded Colon Cancer Family Registry Steering and Advisory Committee, the central hub of guardianship for several familial colorectal cancer registries including the OFCCR. Permission for the data originally was sought by a previous investigator on a separate CRC research project on the adherence to treatment guidelines involving OFCCR participants diagnosed between January 1999 and December 2000 only.⁷⁹ The amended application was submitted and subsequently approved which provided data on colon and rectal cancer patients diagnosed over the 4-year span between January 1999 and December 2003.

2.4 Data Collection

Prognostic indicators on each member of the NFCCR and OFCCR were obtained through a series of standardized chart reviews including pathology reports, operative records, oncology progress notes, and general medical records. Pathology reports were used to confirm patient diagnosis information. Once consent was obtained, individuals provided information on family history, epidemiological data, personal demographics and personal history, and also provided a DNA sample and consented to allow researchers access to tissue blocks.

2.5 Survival Analysis Models

Survival analysis is used for outcome variables that are time-to-event in nature. Time-toevent in this case is survival time. Survival time is defined by the period beginning at time of diagnosis and ending at death. Follow-up was censored in all participants who were still alive at the end of the study or lost to follow-up.

Kaplan-Meier Survival Analysis

Kaplan-Meier (KM) survival analysis is a univariate model used to compute the survival curves and compare between 2 groups. The Log-rank test is a chi-squared test that compares observed and expected frequencies over categories. If the Log-rank test is used to compare two groups, it tells us if a statistically significant difference exists between the groups. If Log-rank is used to compare more than two groups, it tells us if a significant difference exists overall but not between which groups the difference lies. With KM, survival of different groups can be plotted and compared using Log-rank tests. However, the KM survival analysis does not allow assessment of multiple explanatory variables.

Cox Proportional Hazards Multivariate Model

The Cox Proportional Hazards (CoxPH) Model allows for multivariate modelling survival analysis and allows for multiple explanatory (independent) variables. CoxPH computes an estimate of the magnitude of effect for independent variables, which is the Hazard Ratio (HR). The hazard function is the rate (not a probability) at which an event might occur given that the subject has survived up until that time. The precision of this HR estimate is indicated using a Confidence Interval (CI) of 95%. Interaction terms between independent variables can also be examined in a CoxPH model. To meet one of the main model assumptions for CoxPH, the HR must be constant over time and the hazard for one group must be proportional to the hazard for another group. To evaluate the Proportional Hazards Model assumption, the log minus log (LML) graph function is used. If the relationship between the 2 groups is proportional, the 2 lines will be parallel. The Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients (-2 Log Likelihood or -2LL test) will verify if the chosen model fits the data better than no model. For

this data, the -2LL value in the Omnibus Tests of Model Coefficients is statistically significant with p-value less than 0.05 (p=.000) indicating the CoxPH model fits the data.

2.6 Statistical Analysis

All data were analyzed using SPSS v.18 (IBM SPSS Inc. (2010)). Prognostic variables included in statistical models were gender, age at time of diagnosis, MSI status, adjuvant treatment administered, BMI, smoking status, and stage of disease at time of diagnosis. Age was categorized as \leq 49 years, 50-59 years, 60-69 years, or \geq 70 years. MSI status was defined as MSI-H (≥30% of markers tested unstable), MSI-low (MSI-L, >0% and <30% of markers unstable) or microsatellite stable (MSS). Treatment included chemotherapy administered presurgery (neoadjuvant) and post-surgery (adjuvant) and excluded palliative chemotherapy. BMI was categorized as Low (BMI <18.5), Normal (BMI 18.5-24.9), Overweight (BMI 25.0-29.9) or Obese (BMI \geq 30). Smoking status was defined as never, former, or current smokers. Never smokers were qualified as never having smoked 1 cigarette a day for 3 months or more. Former smokers were those who were still smoking 1 or more cigarettes a day 2 years ago. Current smokers were those who currently smoked 1 or more cigarettes a day. Stage of disease was defined according to the TNM system whereby "T" examines the extent of the tumor's spread through the various layers that comprise the wall of the colon and rectum, "N" indicates if or to what extent the cancer has spread to the lymph nodes, and "M" describes whether the cancer has metastasized to distant organs.

Counts and percentages were calculated to describe all categorical variables. The distribution differences between groups were examined by chi-squared (X^2) tests. The Fisher

Exact test was used for any expected cells <5. A statistically significant relationship existed at a p-value of less than 0.05.

KM univariate survival analysis was performed to examine the survival curves between the provinces, stratified by stage. The clinical endpoint of time to death or last follow-up, reported in months, was used. Cases were censored at time of last follow-up, or at any other event, if the outcome was not reached. Because of ascertainment bias in ON, cases from both NL and ON diagnosed at stage 4 were excluded from the analysis.

A Cox PH model for multivariate survival analysis was used to examine the association between the independent variables and survival after controlling for prognostic factors.

NL cases included in this study were compared to 289 NL patients that were in the NFCCR but declined study entry to determine if a difference existed between these 2 groups. Variables available for inclusion for non-enrolled cases were gender, age at diagnosis, and vital status.

Chapter 3 RESULTS

3.1 Predicted Age-Standardized Incidence Rates

Figures 1A and 1B show the CRC predicted ASIRs for males and females in Canada, ON, and NL from 1996-2011. In 2006, Canada predicted ASIRs for CRC were 62 per 100,000 in men and 41 per 100,000 in women. In the same year, ON predicted ASIRs were 61 in men and 42 in women, compared to 82 in men and 51 in women in NL. In men, predicted ASIRs were 34% higher in NL than in ON, and 21% higher in NL women compared to ON.

3.2 Actual Age-Standardized Incidence Rates

Figures 2A and 2B show the CRC actual ASIRs for males and females in Canada, ON, and NL from 1996-2006. In 2006, actual CRC ASIRs in Canada were 60 per 100,000 in men and 40 per 100,000 in women. In 2006 in ON, ASIRs were 60 in men and 40 in women, compared to 93 in men and 61 in women in NL. In men, actual ASIRs were 55% higher in NL than in ON. In women, actual ASIRs were 53% higher in NL than in ON.

3.3 Predicted Number of Deaths

Tables 1A and 1B show the CRC predicted number of deaths for males and females in Canada, ON, and NL for 2006 and 2009, respectively. In 2006, the total population of Canada was estimated at 32,570,505, including 12,661,566 in ON and 510,584 in NL. In 2009, the total population of Canada was estimated at 33,628,571, including 12,997,687 in ON, and 516,729 in NL.

In 2006, Canada predicted CRC-related deaths in 4600 males and 3900 females. In the same year in ON, 1650 and 1450 CRC-related deaths were predicted for males and females,

respectively. In comparison for 2006, 120 deaths in males and 95 deaths in females were predicted in NL.

In 2009, Canada predicted CRC-related deaths in 4900 males and 4200 females. In the same year in ON, 1800 and 1500 CRC-related deaths were predicted for males and females, respectively. In comparison for 2009, 130 deaths in males and 100 deaths in females were predicted in NL.

3.4 Predicted Age-Standardized Mortality Rates

Figures 3A and 3B show the predicted CRC ASMRs for males and females in Canada, ON, and NL for 1996 to 2011.

In 2006, Canada predicted ASMRs for CRC were 27 per 100,000 in men and 17 per 100,000 in women. In the same year in ON, ASMRs of 26 in men and 16 in women were predicted. In comparison, ASMRs of 40 in men and 26 in women were predicted in NL. In 2006, predicted ASMRs were 54% higher in NL men than in ON men, and 63% higher in NL women than ON women.

In 2009, Canada predicted ASMRs for CRC were 26 per 100,000 in men and 16 per 100,000 in women. In the same year in ON, ASMRs of 24 in men and 15 in women were predicted. In comparison, ASMRs of 41 in men and 26 in women were predicted in NL. Predicted ASMRs were 71% higher in NL men compared to those in ON, and 73% higher in NL women compared to ON.

3.5 Actual Number of Deaths

Tables 2A and 2B show the CRC actual number of deaths for males and females in Canada, ON, and NL for 2006 and 2009, respectively. Actual death counts for NL were available for these years only.

In 2006, there were 4400 CRC-related deaths in males and 3800 in females in Canada. In the same year in ON there were 1650 and 1400 CRC-related deaths for males and females. In comparison for 2006, there were 130 deaths in males and 75 deaths in females in NL.

In 2009, there were 4600 and 4000 actual CRC-related deaths in Canada in males and females, respectively. In the same year in ON, there were 1650 and 1450 actual CRC-related deaths in males and females, respectively. In comparison, there were 130 deaths in males and 90 deaths in females in NL.

3.6 Actual Age-Standardized Mortality Rates

Figures 4A and 4B show the CRC actual ASMRs for Canada, ON, and NL for 2006 and 2009. ASMRs for NL were available for these years only.

In 2006, actual ASMRs for CRC in Canada were 24.8 per 100,000 in men and 15.7 per 100,000 in women. In the same year in ON, ASMRs were 24.3 in men and 15.1 in women. In comparison, ASMRs were 42 in NL men and 20 in women. That year, actual ASMRs were 73% higher in NL men than in ON men, and 32% higher in NL women than those in ON.

In 2009, actual ASMRs in Canada were 23.3 per 100,000 in men and 15.1 per 100,000 in women. In the same year in ON, ASMRs were 22 in men and 14 in women. In comparison, ASMRs were 42 in men and 23 in women in NL. In 2009, actual ASMRs were 91% higher in NL men than ON, and 64% higher in NL women than ON women.

3.7 Recruitment

From Newfoundland and Labrador, 799 patients diagnosed with colon cancer met inclusion criteria and were eligible for study enrollment. Of 799 cases, 510 (63.8%) patients consented and enrolled, consisting of 294 (57.6%) males and 216 (42.4%) females. NL patients were eligible for enrollment through proxy consent. Of 510 cases, 166 (32.5%) enrolled through proxy consent and 344 (67.5%) enrolled through direct patient consent (Figure 5).

From Ontario, 906 patients diagnosed with colon cancer enrolled in the study, comprised of 466 (51.4%) males and 440 (48.6%) females (Figure 6). ON patients were not eligible for inclusion through proxy consent therefore all cases from ON were enrolled through direct patient consent.

3.8 Patient Demographics and Clinical Characteristics

Patient demographics and clinical characteristics are seen in Tables 3 and 4. This included cases at stages 1-4, unknown stage, and cases recruited through proxy consent.

Gender

In the NL dataset, there were 294 (57.6%) males and 216 (42.4%) females compared to 466 (51.4%) males and 440 (48.6%) females in ON (p=.024).

Age

Age of patients at time of diagnosis in NL was 60 (11.8%) at age <=49, 128 (25.1%) age 50-59, 212 (41.6%) age 60-69, and 110 (21.6%) age >=70 years. In ON, 111 (12.3%) were

diagnosed at age <=49, 231 (25.5%) at age 50-59, 419 (46.2%) at age 60-69, and 145 (16.0%) at age >=70 years (p=.063).

Adjuvant Treatment

Adjuvant treatment was administered in 198 (39.1%) of cases in NL and 395 (44.6%) of cases in ON (p=.045). Stratified by stage of disease, a statistically significant relationship was evident in stage 3 cases who received adjuvant treatment (p=.017) where significantly fewer NL cases diagnosed at stage 3 received adjuvant treatment compared with ON. When cases recruited through proxy consent were excluded from the analysis there was no significant difference between the groups (Table 5).

MSI Status

MSI tumour counts in NL included 71 (14.4%) MSI-H cases and 423 (85.6%) MSI-L/MSS cases. In ON, 162 (19.8%) cases where diagnosed with MSI-H tumours and 655 (80.2%) cases with MSI-L/MSS. The difference was statistically significant (p=.012).

BMI

Excluding cases with unknown BMI, NL BMI category counts included 6 (1.3%) Low, 140 (31.0%) Normal, 175 (38.7%) Overweight, and 131 (29.0%) Obese. In ON, 15 (1.8%) cases were categorized BMI Low, 288 (34.6%) Normal, 366 (43.9%) Overweight, and 164 (19.7%) Obese (Table 6). The difference was statistically significant (p=.002).

Smoking Status

As seen in Table 3, 143 (30.2%) NL cases never smoked, 233 (49.2%) cases were former smokers, and 98 (20.7%) were current smokers at time of diagnosis. In ON, 344 (39.9%) cases never smoked, 441 (51.2%) formerly smoked, and 77 (8.9%) were current smokers (p=.000). When stratified by sex, statistical significance remained in both males (p=.000) and females (p=.000) between NL and ON (Table 7).

Stage at Diagnosis

When cases between the provinces were compared stratified by stage a statistically significant relationship existed (p=.000). Including all cases diagnosed at stages 1-4 in NL, 73 (14.3%) were diagnosed at stage 1, 171 (33.5%) at stage 2, 142 (27.8%) at stage 3, and 124 (24.3%) at stage 4. In ON, 167 (19.4%) of cases were diagnosed at stage 1 disease, 363 (42.1%) at stage 2, 256 (29.7%) at stage 3, and 77 (8.9%) at stage 4. This difference is likely related to the non-recruitment of patients who had died before the study had started, as proxies were not allowed from ON.

Excluding Stage 4 Cases

Excluding stage 4 cases, in NL the proportion of cases diagnosed at stage 1 was 18.9%, 44.3% at stage 2 and 36.8% at stage 3, and respective proportions in ON were 21.2%, 46.2% and 32.6% (p=.325).

Excluding Proxy Consented Cases

When the 166 NL cases recruited through proxy consent were excluded and provinces were again compared by stages 1-4 (NL=344; ON=863; total=1207) the proportions were comparable between provinces (p=.911). NL cases diagnosed at stage 1 were 66 (19.2%), 140 (40.7%) at stage 2, 103 (29.9%) at stage 3, and 35 (10.2%) at stage 4.

Non-Enrolled Cases

Patient demographic characteristics for NL colon cancer cases eligible for study enrollment but who declined entry are seen in Table 8. Groups were compared based on gender (p=.140), age at diagnosis (p=.206), and vital status (p=.000).

3.9 Univariate Survival Analysis

Analysis of all cases including unknown stage cases in ON resulted in a statistically significant survival distribution between NL and ON cases (p=.010) with median survival of 94.2 months in NL and 85.2 months in ON (Table 9).

Excluding unknown stage cases, a statistically significant survival distribution remained for stages 1-4 overall between NL and ON cases (p=.019) with median survival of 94.2 months in NL and 84.7 months in ON (Table 10).

Stage 1

KM analysis of stage 1 cases included 73 from NL with median survival 133.2 months and 167 from ON with median survival 101.8 months (p=.760) (Figure 7A, Table 11A).

Stage 2

In NL, there were 171 cases diagnosed as stage 2 with median survival 139.8 months and 363 cases from ON with median survival 91.0 months (p=.006) (Figure 7B, Table 11B).

Stage 3

In NL, 142 cases were diagnosed at stage 3 with median survival 105.0 months and 256 cases in ON with median survival of 77.6 months (p=.259) (Figure 7C, Table 11C).

Stage 4

Stage 4 case counts for NL and ON were 124 and 77, respectively, with improved survival in ON (p=.021). Median survival was 15.0 months in NL and 30.6 months in ON (Figure 7D, Table 11D). This is likely influenced by selection bias when proxies were not enrolled in ON.

Excluding Stage 4

Due to disproportionately low counts of stage 4 cases in ON, these cases for both provinces were excluded and stages 1-3 cases only were included in subsequent survival analyses and multivariate modeling. KM survival analysis of cases diagnosed at stages 1 to 3 from both provinces resulted in a statistically significant difference in favour of improved survival for NL cases (p=.028) (Table 12).

Median survival in NL cases increased from 94.2 months including stage 4 cases to 133.2 months excluding stage 4 cases. In ON, median survival was 84.7 months including stage 4 cases compared to 89.7 months excluding stage 4 cases.

3.10 Multivariate Survival Analysis

Cox Proportional Hazards Model multivariate survival analysis compared NL and ON cases diagnosed at stages 1-3 including variables for gender, stage at diagnosis, age at diagnosis, adjuvant treatment, MSI status, BMI, and smoking status (Table 13). There were 328 NL and 659 ON cases included in the analysis.

There was a statistically significant difference in survival between NL and ON cases, with improved survival for NL (p=.023). Additional statistically significant prognostic variables included stage of disease at diagnosis (p=.000 for stage 1 compared to 3, and p=.000 for stage 2 compared to 3), male gender (p=.034), receiving adjuvant treatment (p=.000), and being a never smoker compared to a current smoker (p=.040).

Stage 1

Analysis of stage 1 cases only revealed no significant differences between provinces (Table 14A).

Stage 2

At stage 2, the survival of colon cancer patients in NL was significantly better compared to ON (p=.041) (Table 14B).

Stage 3

Stage 3 analysis comparing provinces indicated no significant difference (Table 14C).

Independent of adverse prognostic factors at diagnosis, colon cancer patients in NL showed significantly improved survival compared to those in ON (p=.023).

Chapter 4 DISCUSSION

There is a marked difference in both predicted and actual age-standardized CRC incidence rates between the Ontario and Newfoundland and Labrador populations according to Canadian Cancer Statistics. In both men and women, NL's ASIRs are higher than those reported in ON, while ON rates are comparable to the Canadian national rate overall. In men, predicted ASIRs were 34% higher in NL than in ON, and 21% higher in NL women compared to ON. In men, actual ASIRs were 55% higher in NL than in ON. In women, actual ASIRs were 53% higher in NL than in ON.

There is also a clear difference in the age-standardized mortality rates between the provinces, where both predicted and actual rates are higher in NL men and women compared to ON and Canada rates overall. In 2009, predicted ASMRs were 71% higher in NL men compared to those in ON, and 73% higher in NL women compared to ON. Actual ASMRs were 91% higher in NL men than ON, and 64% higher in NL women than ON women.

Significant differences are evident in baseline prognostic variables between the NL and ON registries. Compared to ON, NL had a higher proportion of males diagnosed with CRC, a lower proportion of cases treated with adjuvant treatment when including cases recruited through proxy consent, a lower proportion of cases categorized as MSI-H, a greater proportion of cases categorized as obese (BMI \geq 30), a greater proportion of cases characterized as current smokers at time of diagnosis, and a greater proportion of cases diagnosed at stage 4 disease when including cases recruited through proxy consent.

In univariate analysis of stages 1-4 overall, NL cases showed improved survival compared to ON. When each stage was analysed separately, NL cases had significantly

improved survival at stage 2 disease, while ON had significantly improved survival in cases diagnosed as stage 4.

When stage 4 cases were excluded due to the effect of cases recruited through proxy consent, univariate survival indicated significantly improved survival for NL cases overall and, when stratified by stage, for those diagnosed at stage 2 disease compared to ON.

In multivariate survival analyses, NL's improved survival rate remained at stage 2. There was no significant difference in survival between the provinces in cases diagnosed at stages 1 or 3 of disease. Prognostic variables significantly related to survival were stage at diagnosis, gender, adjuvant treatment, and smoking status.

Overall, NL cases exhibit a higher rate of CRC incidence compared to their ON counterparts, however do not exhibit increased mortality due to CRC.

4.1 Canadian Cancer Statistics

The Canadian Cancer Statistics (CCS) manual is published annually and reports cancer statistics related to predicted and actual incidence and mortality rates in men and women in Canada overall and by province. Provincial cancer registries provide CCS with actual data values and consult with CCS affiliates to determine estimated values. Estimated data are determined through statistical models. Cancer registries reveal patterns that can be observed and compared across populations, providing valuable data for cancer research and screening programs.

Actual ASIRs for NL and ON were available up to 2006, thus incidence rates were compared and interpreted based on values from that year. Predicted and actual ASIRs for ON were comparable, with ON rates similar to Canadian rates overall. Predicted ASIRs for NL in

2006 were highest by province in Canada, and actual ASIRs for NL were even higher than predicted. NL's estimated CRC ASIR in 2006 was 6.1% higher than that of ON. ASIRs were higher in males compared to females in Canada, ON, and NL.

Predicted and actual NL incidence rates are likely higher than reported. In NL, actual mortality rates were not available prior to 2006 as the provincial cancer registry did not receive information on cancer-related deaths diagnosed post-mortem through death certificates until 2005. As a result, CRC actual incidence in NL may be underestimated. Case ascertainment for incidence and ASIRs of cancers in NL has also been less complete in previous years in comparison to those more recent due to lack of reported cases from some regions of the province. Actual incidence values reported prior to 2005 should be interpreted with caution.

Further, because CCS predicted values are generated through statistical models using actual values from previous years, this may provide an explanation for the substantial discrepancy between NL predicted and actual values we see in CCS today. Because actual values may be erroneously low, predicted values also appear low. Further investigation is required to determine why NL incidence rates are so high, and why they are so much higher than other provinces.

According to CCS, for the past decade or more NL has had the highest predicted CRC mortality rate in Canada. In 2006, the ASMR for CRC-related death in ON was in keeping with the overall Canadian predicted value for men and women. For NL in the same year, predicted ASMRs for men and women were substantially higher than the Canadian average. In fact, NL had the highest predicted ASMR of all provinces in Canada.

Actual ASMRs for Canada and ON were available up to and including 2006 and for 2009. ASMRs for Canada overall and ON were comparable and these values reflected predicted

rates. Actual ASMRs for NL were available for 2006 and 2009 only. Actual ASMRs for NL were higher than all other provinces, but were similar to those values predicted. ASMRs were higher in males compared to females in Canada, ON, and NL. This investigation was undertaken to explore possible causes for such a high mortality rate in NL due to CRC.

4.2 Differences in Prognostic Variables

A comparison of the NL and ON data sets revealed several statistically significant differences in the proportion of prognostic factors that can affect CRC survival.

A significant relationship existed between province and sex. There were more males and fewer females diagnosed with colon cancer in the NL data compared with ON cases.

When including cases diagnosed through proxy consent, NL had significant fewer cases treated with adjuvant therapy compared to ON. Stratified by stage, statistically significant differences existed between stage 3 cases only. However, when proxy cases were excluded from the analysis, similar frequencies of use of adjuvant chemotherapy were observed, as expected from concordance with clinical practice guidelines reported previously.⁷⁹ Including cases recruited through proxy consent, 89.4% of NFCCR stage 3 cases and 95.6% of OFCCR stage 3 cases received adjuvant treatment. Excluding proxy cases, 98.1% of NFCCR cases diagnosed at stage 3 received adjuvant treatment.

Compared to ON, NL had a lower proportion of cases categorized as MSI-H. In the literature, one would expect approximately 15% of tumours to present as MSI-H, including 3% hereditary and 12% sporadic. In NL, 14.4% of cases had MSI-H tumours versus 19.8% in ON, indicating NL counts were more in keeping with expected values. Overall in both NL and ON there were significantly more MSI-L/MSS tumours than MSI-H.

There was an overall statistically significant relationship between province and BMI. Compared to ON, NL had a greater proportion of cases categorized as obese (BMI \geq 30). When stratified by sex, NL males had significantly higher reported BMI than ON males. Stratified by gender, ON males had a higher reported proportion of Overweight BMI (BMI 25.0-29.9) than NL males (55% in ON vs 41.3% in NL), while NL males had a higher reported proportion of Obese BMI (BMI \geq 30.0) than ON males (33.7% in NL vs 22.4% in ON).

Increased BMI and waist circumference have been associated with increased risk of CRC incidence in the literature. The association between BMI and CRC appears to be stronger in men than in women and for colon rather than rectal cancer development. There also appears to be a dose-response, where higher BMI means higher CRC risk, particularly in men. Findings in this analysis support existing evidence in the literature of the relationship between obesity and colon cancer incidence in males. Compared to the rest of Canada, obesity is more prevalent in the Atlantic provinces, including NL.

Smoking status was significantly different between NL and ON cases. Compared to ON, NL had a greater proportion of cases characterized as current smokers at time of diagnosis overall, while ON had a greater proportion of never smokers compared to NL. By gender, females in NL had a significantly higher proportion of current smokers than ON. Females from both provinces had a greater proportion of cases in the never smoker group (45.2% in NL vs 50.2% in ON) compared to males (19.3% in NL vs 29.9% in ON).

The literature indicates a relationship exists between smoking and CRC development, while the association appears to be stronger in rectal cancer development than colon cancer. According to Statistics Canada, by province NL has the highest smoking prevalence in Canada. In 2009, NL was above the Canadian average by approximately 3% for smoking prevalence.

Prevalence was reportedly higher in males than females. ON was below the Canadian average by approximately 1.5%.

When including cases recruited through proxy consent, NL had a significantly greater proportion of cases diagnosed at stage 4 disease compared to ON. 24.3% of NL cases were diagnosed stage 4 while 8.9% of cases were diagnosed stage 4 in ON. A literature search was conducted to determine if stage proportions in the NFCCR and OFCCR cohorts were comparable to other population-based studies in Canada. In particular, stage at diagnosis was compared to an incident cohort in ON, diagnosed in 1997-8 in whom ascertainment bias was not limited by age, family history, or early death. NL proportions of advanced disease cases in stages 3 and 4 were similar to the literature. The proportion of cases diagnosed at stage 4 in OFCCR data was uncharacteristically low compared to NFCCR cases and the literature. The proportion of stage 4 disease was 8.9% in ON, yet one would expect up to 20%.⁹⁷

The low proportion of ON stage 4 cases was attributed to lack of proxy consent recruitment in the ON registry. Rather than exclude cases recruited through proxy consent, which would cause both NL and ON stage 4 counts to be disproportionately low, all stage 4 cases were excluded from the survival analysis. With stage 4 cases excluded, there was no significant difference in stage proportion between the provinces.

When comparing NL cases who were enrolled in the database to those who were eligible for enrollment but declined, no significant difference was found in gender or age at diagnosis. There was a statistically significant difference between groups in vital status where a greater proportion of cases enrolled in the study were deceased compared to non-enrolled cases.

4.3 Univariate Survival Analysis

KM univariate survival analysis comparing NL and ON cases diagnosed at stages 1-4 revealed a statistically significant difference in survival between the provinces. Stratified by stage, a statistically significant difference in survival in stage 2 cases was evident, with improved survival for NL cases.

A significant difference also existed for stage 4 cases as expected, with improved survival for ON cases. The NFCCR recruited cases through both direct patient consent and proxy consent. By nature, cases recruited through proxy consent are more likely to be deceased upon entry into the data base. They are also then more likely to have been diagnosed at advanced stage of disease. The OFCCR recruited cases through direct patient consent only, meaning all ON cases had to be alive to be included in the cohort. Lack of ON's proxy consent recruitment created a survivor bias in the data, particularly obvious when interpreting stage proportions between the provinces.

Stage 4 cases would likely have been more numerous in ON with proxy consent recruitment however without proxies the proportion of stage 4 cases appeared low. Due to disproportionately low counts of stage 4 cases in ON, stage 4 cases for both provinces were excluded from subsequent survival analyses and multivariate modeling. In an effort to limit survivor bias present in the data, only cases diagnosed at stages 1-3 were henceforth included.

In univariate survival analyses stratified by stages 1-3 overall, a statistically significant difference remained between the provinces. Excluding stage 4 cases, median survival in NL increased from 94.2 to 133.2 months, a difference of 39.0 months. In ON, median survival increased by only 4.1 months, from 85.2 to 89.2.

Stratified by stage, NL cases continued to show significantly improved survival compared to ON at stage 2 disease. Contributing factors to this difference in survival were unclear and further investigation was required in multivariate modelling to determine why NL cases showed improved survival over ON cases diagnosed at stage 2 disease.

4.4 Multivariate Survival Analysis

Multivariate analysis compared NL and ON cases while controlling for gender, age at diagnosis, stage of disease at diagnosis, MSI status, if adjuvant treatment was administered, BMI, and smoking status.

The CoxPH model assumption was evaluated through a graphical technique involving the log-log (LML) survival curve to ensure a proportional relationship existed between the variables. A proportional relationship was found between the LML curves and therefore amongst the variables, indicating that CoxPH model assumptions were met.

Factors found to independently predict survival between the cohorts included stage at diagnosis, gender, adjuvant treatment, and smoking status.

Independent of adverse prognostic variables at time of diagnosis a statistically significant difference existed in survival between NL and ON cases. Compared to ON, NL showed improved survival overall. Stratified by stage, no difference in survival existed at stages 1 or 3. However when diagnosed at stage 2, improved survival was evident in favour of NL cases. It is not clear why such a difference exists at this particular stage and further investigation is required to understand this relationship.

As expected, later stage of disease at diagnosis was an independent predictor of colon cancer survival. Survival decreased with increasing stage at diagnosis. Compared to stage 1,

cases diagnosed at stage 2 and 3 had significantly worse prognosis. Stage is well known to be the strongest predictor of CRC survival in the literature.

Male gender was found to be a significant predictive factor in multivariate survival analysis. Compared to females, males had worse prognosis. Although there is some inconsistency with evidence in the literature, this finding is consistent with some support in previous research.

Adjuvant treatment was also a significant factor in predicting survival. Compared to those who did not receive adjuvant treatment, cases who did had improved prognosis. Cases diagnosed at later stage of disease are more likely to receive adjuvant therapy in concordance with treatment guidelines. Similar frequencies of use of adjuvant chemotherapy were observed between the provinces. In particular, amongst stage 3 cases, 89.4% of NFCCR and 95.6% of OFCCR cases received adjuvant treatment.

Smoking status was found to be a significant predictor of CRC survival as well. Cases that were categorized as current smokers showed decreased survival compared to never smokers. It does not appear that smoking status alone would be responsible for such a high mortality rate in NL due to CRC compared to ON and the rest of Canada, however it appears it may be a contributing factor.

In multivariate Cox PH survival analysis, independent of adverse prognostic factors at time of diagnosis, the NL cohort showed improved colon cancer survival compared to their ON counterparts. Based on two population-based cancer registries, we can conclude that mortality due to colon cancer has not been found to be worse in NL compared to ON cases.

4.5 Limitations

There were several limitations to note in this analysis. One limitation was survivor bias present in the ON data set. Because proxy consent was not sought from ON cases, those that were deceased in ON could not be included in the study. Cases diagnosed at a later stage of disease had lower likelihood of survival, meaning many ON patients who died within 1-2 years of diagnosis were systematically excluded from the data set. Where NL did obtain proxy consent and therefore could include information on deceased cases, it appeared that NL had worse survival than ON cases. Stage 4 disease cases were excluded from both NL and ON data sets to reduce the effect of evident survivor bias. In OFCCR another bias occurred as proxies were not used to enrol incident cases who died within the first year or so after diagnosis. Consequently, we controlled for this bias by excluding patients with stage 4 disease, patients who were most likely not to have been enrolled in the OFCCR. Exclusion of proxies from the NL sample, which makes the research design more comparable to that for ON, favours improved survival in NL.

Ascertainment bias was also present, as only incident colon cancer patients under 75 years of age were enrolled in both provinces. Even though approximately 15-20% of colon cancer cases appear in this age demographic, the analysis excluded cases over 75 years of age in NL or ON. This was because both NFCCR and OFCCR data bases did not include incident colon cancer cases diagnosed after age 75. Including cases in people over 75 would have furthered the impact of the survivor bias present since ON did not obtain proxy consent. Presumably many cases over age 75 would be deceased, and if NL obtained proxy consent from these cases but ON did not, the results would be skewed if proxies were included.

The OFCCR cohort is limited to inclusion of 25% familial colon cancer cases. The NL population is a founder population which includes a greater proportion of familial cancer than

other provinces. It is therefore likely that the NFCCR cohort is comprised of more than 25% familial cancer. Family history of CRC is a factor associated with increased incidence. Familial colon cancer cases have not been found to have improved survival in the literature, however cases that have family history of CRC may be more likely to have MSI-H tumours which have been found to predict improved survival.

This study was retrospective in design in which patients are enrolled after treatment for CRC. Data on treatment and outcome has been collected retrospectively. The limitations of this design include potential for lower enrollment rate compared to a design that would enrol patients prospectively, inaccuracy associated with chart reviews, and inaccuracy because all relevant data may not be recorded in medical charts.

CONCLUSION

The results of this study suggest that NL's high mortality rate due to CRC cannot be attributed to later stage of disease at diagnosis, higher rate of adverse prognostic factors at baseline, or to diminished survival following diagnosis. Survival of NL patients following colon cancer diagnosis was not worse than that of ON, and may even be better as shown by comparing long term survival rates. This was not the result of differential use of adjuvant therapy, different rates of adverse prognostic factors at baseline, or of ascertainment bias, as failure to enroll patients who died soon after diagnosis would favour ON.

I conclude that NL's high rate of CRC mortality, the highest in Canada, is as a result of also having the highest incidence rate of CRC in Canada. Consequently, strategies to reduce incidence by population-wide primary prevention and screening initiatives are necessary. CRC surveillance in family members of high-risk families may also decrease the incidence of CRC in NL. General practitioners are the first point of patient contact and are the gateway to preventative medicine and implementing appropriate cancer screening for their patients. Contact with a general practitioner has been associated with increased CRC screening rates.⁶⁷ A detailed family history is required so that the Amsterdam and Bethesda criteria can be applied where necessary. Due to the high risk of HNPCC families and since the genetic pathway of FCCTX remains relatively unknown, priority should be placed on taking a thorough family history, especially in NL where hereditary CRC rates are high.

Early detection and treatment of CRC are crucial. CRC screening will decrease incidence through polyp removal before stage of malignancy. The mortality rate should also decrease as screening can diagnose carcinoma in early stage therefore increasing likelihood of survival. There is currently provincial-wide FTi screening accessible to all regions of NL. Screening

promotion through public health outlets and general practitioner contact will remain important in encouraging eligible Newfoundlanders and Labradorians to be screened for CRC.

Many factors can impact CRC survival. Some have clear indication such as stage at diagnosis, while others present with mixed evidence. Regardless it is clear that screening is important to decrease incidence or to diagnose CRC cases in early stage. Cancer registries are valuable tools for analysis of true epidemiological trends. Interpreting survival patterns is important for formulating provincial and national cancer management strategies.

The implications of these results are that a focus on prevention of CRC is needed. Modifying lifestyle factors that are related to decreased survival will likely improve prognosis. Promoting a healthy lifestyle and developing health programs to reduce likelihood of CRC incidence would be an asset in decreasing the CRC incidence. Efforts to limit the high rate of obesity through promoting healthy dietary habits and physical activity, as well as promoting smoking cessation and limiting excessive alcohol consumption are likely to decrease NL's high CRC incidence rates and to play a positive role in decreasing the CRC burden.

REFERENCES

1. Hemminki K, Santi I, Weires M, Thomsen H, Sundquist J, Bermejo JL. Tumor location and patient characteristics of colon and rectal adenocarcinomas in relation to survival and TNM classes. *BMC Cancer*. 2010;10:688. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-10-688.

2. Tiwari AK, Roy HK, Lynch HT. Lynch syndrome in the 21st century: Clinical perspectives. *QJM*. 2015. doi: hcv137 [pii].

3. Lindor NM. Familial colorectal cancer type X: The other half of hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer syndrome. *Surg Oncol Clin N Am.* 2009;18(4):637-645. doi: 10.1016/j.soc.2009.07.003; 10.1016/j.soc.2009.07.003.

4. Wei EK, Giovannucci E, Wu K, et al. Comparison of risk factors for colon and rectal cancer. *Int J Cancer*. 2004;108(3):433-442. doi: 10.1002/ijc.11540.

5. Pischon T, Lahmann PH, Boeing H, et al. Body size and risk of colon and rectal cancer in the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC). *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2006;98(13):920-931. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djj246.

6. Roncucci L, Fante R, Losi L, et al. Survival for colon and rectal cancer in a population-based cancer registry. *Eur J Cancer*. 1996;32A(2):295-302.

7. Liang PS, Chen T, Giovannucci E. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer incidence and mortality: Systematic review and meta-analysis. *International Journal of Cancer*. 2009;124(10):2406-2415. doi: 10.1002/ijc.24191.

8. Zhao J, Halfyard B, Roebothan B, et al. Tobacco smoking and colorectal cancer: A population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador. *Can J Public Health*. 2010;101(4):281-289.

9. Chan AT, Giovannucci EL. Primary prevention of colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 2010;138(6):2029-2043.e10. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.057; 10.1053/j.gastro.2010.01.057.

10. Zhu Y, Yang SR, Wang PP, et al. Influence of pre-diagnostic cigarette smoking on colorectal cancer survival: Overall and by tumour molecular phenotype. *Br J Cancer*. 2014;110(5):1359-1366. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.6 [doi].

11. NIH consensus conference. Adjuvant therapy for patients with colon and rectal cancer. *JAMA*. 1990;264(11):1444-1450.

12. Lin CC, Lai YL, Lin TC, et al. Clinicopathologic features and prognostic analysis of MSIhigh colon cancer. *Int J Colorectal Dis*. 2012;27(3):277-286. doi: 10.1007/s00384-011-1341-2 [doi]. 13. Canadian Cancer Society's steering committee on cancer statistics. Canadian Cancer Statistics 2011. Toronto, ON: Canadian Cancer Society; 2011.

14. Siegel R, Naishadham D, Jemal A. Cancer statistics, 2012. *CA Cancer J Clin*. 2012;62(1):10-29. doi: 10.3322/caac.20138 [doi].

15. Green RC, Green JS, Buehler SK, et al. Very high incidence of familial colorectal cancer in Newfoundland: A comparison with Ontario and 13 other population-based studies. *Fam Cancer*. 2007;6(1):53-62. doi: 10.1007/s10689-006-9104-x.

16. Boland CR, Goel A. Microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 2010;138(6):2073-2087.e3. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2009.12.064.

17. Mitry E, Bouvier AM, Esteve J, Faivre J. Improvement in colorectal cancer survival: A population-based study. *Eur J Cancer*. 2005;41(15):2297-2303. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2005.01.028.

18. Spencer EA, Key TJ, Appleby PN, et al. Meat, poultry and fish and risk of colorectal cancer: Pooled analysis of data from the UK dietary cohort consortium. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2010;21(9):1417-1425. doi: 10.1007/s10552-010-9569-7.

19. Sun Z, Liu L, Wang PP, et al. Association of total energy intake and macronutrient consumption with colorectal cancer risk: Results from a large population-based case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador and Ontario, Canada. *Nutr J*. 2012;11:18-2891-11-18. doi: 10.1186/1475-2891-11-18; 10.1186/1475-2891-11-18.

20. Levi F, Pasche C, Lucchini F, La Vecchia C. Dietary fibre and the risk of colorectal cancer. *Eur J Cancer*. 2001;37(16):2091-2096. doi: S0959804901002544 [pii].

21. Norat T, Lukanova A, Ferrari P, Riboli E. Meat consumption and colorectal cancer risk: Dose-response meta-analysis of epidemiological studies. *Int J Cancer*. 2002;98(2):241-256. doi: 10.1002/ijc.10126 [pii].

22. Zhu Y, Wu H, Wang PP, et al. Dietary patterns and colorectal cancer recurrence and survival: A cohort study. *BMJ Open*. 2013;3(2):10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002270. Print 2013. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2012-002270 [doi].

23. Sandhu MS, White IR, McPherson K. Systematic review of the prospective cohort studies on meat consumption and colorectal cancer risk: A meta-analytical approach. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2001;10(5):439-446.

24. Santarelli RL, Pierre F, Corpet DE. Processed meat and colorectal cancer: A review of epidemiologic and experimental evidence. *Nutr Cancer*. 2008;60(2):131-144. doi: 10.1080/01635580701684872 [doi].

25. Squires J, Roebothan B, Buehler S, et al. Pickled meat consumption and colorectal cancer (CRC): A case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2010;21(9):1513-1521. doi: 10.1007/s10552-010-9580-z.

26. Cotterchio M, Boucher BA, Manno M, Gallinger S, Okey AB, Harper PA. Red meat intake, doneness, polymorphisms in genes that encode carcinogen-metabolizing enzymes, and colorectal cancer risk. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2008;17(11):3098-3107. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-08-0341 [doi].

27. Magalhaes B, Bastos J, Lunet N. Dietary patterns and colorectal cancer: A case-control study from Portugal. *Eur J Cancer Prev*. 2011;20(5):389-395. doi: 10.1097/CEJ.0b013e328347220a [doi].

28. Satia-Abouta J, Galanko JA, Potter JD, et al. Associations of total energy and macronutrients with colon cancer risk in African Americans and whites: Results from the North Carolina colon cancer study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2003;158(10):951-962.

29. Kurotani K, Budhathoki S, Joshi AM, et al. Dietary patterns and colorectal cancer in a Japanese population: The Fukuoka colorectal cancer study. *Br J Nutr*. 2010;104(11):1703-1711. doi: 10.1017/S0007114510002606 [doi].

30. Prentice RL, Thomson CA, Caan B, et al. Low-fat dietary pattern and cancer incidence in the women's health initiative dietary modification randomized controlled trial. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2007;99(20):1534-1543. doi: djm159 [pii].

31. Meinhold CL, Dodd KW, Jiao L, et al. Available carbohydrates, glycemic load, and pancreatic cancer: Is there a link? *Am J Epidemiol*. 2010;171(11):1174-1182. doi: 10.1093/aje/kwq061 [doi].

32. Williams CD, Satia JA, Adair LS, et al. Associations of red meat, fat, and protein intake with distal colorectal cancer risk. *Nutr Cancer*. 2010;62(6):701-709. doi: 10.1080/01635581003605938 [doi].

33. Gonzalez CA, Riboli E. Diet and cancer prevention: Contributions from the European prospective investigation into cancer and nutrition (EPIC) study. *Eur J Cancer*. 2010;46(14):2555-2562. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.07.025 [doi].

34. Wakai K, Date C, Fukui M, et al. Dietary fiber and risk of colorectal cancer in the Japan collaborative cohort study. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(4):668-675. doi: 16/4/668 [pii].

35. Ahmed FE. Effect of diet, life style, and other environmental/chemopreventive factors on colorectal cancer development, and assessment of the risks. *J Environ Sci Health C Environ Carcinog Ecotoxicol Rev.* 2004;22(2):91-147. doi: V452737276308RW1 [pii].

36. Dray X, Boutron-Ruault MC, Bertrais S, Sapinho D, Benhamiche-Bouvier AM, Faivre J. Influence of dietary factors on colorectal cancer survival. *Gut.* 2003;52(6):868-873.

37. Zhao J, Zhu Y, Wang PP, et al. Interaction between alcohol drinking and obesity in relation to colorectal cancer risk: A case-control study in Newfoundland and Labrador, Canada. *BMC Public Health*. 2012;12:94. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-12-94.

38. Moore LL, Bradlee ML, Singer MR, et al. BMI and waist circumference as predictors of lifetime colon cancer risk in Framingham study adults. *Int J Obes Relat Metab Disord*. 2004;28(4):559-567. doi: 10.1038/sj.ijo.0802606.

39. Wang Y, Jacobs EJ, Patel AV, et al. A prospective study of waist circumference and body mass index in relation to colorectal cancer incidence. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2008;19(7):783-792. doi: 10.1007/s10552-008-9141-x.

40. Campbell PT, Jacobs ET, Ulrich CM, et al. Case-control study of overweight, obesity, and colorectal cancer risk, overall and by tumor microsatellite instability status. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2010;102(6):391-400. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djq011.

41. Campbell PT, Cotterchio M, Dicks E, Parfrey P, Gallinger S, McLaughlin JR. Excess body weight and colorectal cancer risk in Canada: Associations in subgroups of clinically defined familial risk of cancer. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2007;16(9):1735-1744. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-06-1059.

42. Zhu Y, Yang SR, Wang PP, et al. Influence of pre-diagnostic cigarette smoking on colorectal cancer survival: Overall and by tumour molecular phenotype. *Br J Cancer*. 2014;110(5):1359-1366. doi: 10.1038/bjc.2014.6 [doi].

43. Abrams JA, Terry MB, Neugut AI. Cigarette smoking and the colorectal adenoma-carcinoma sequence. *Gastroenterology*. 2008;134(2):617-619. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2007.12.015 [doi].

44. Lynch HT, de la Chapelle A. Hereditary colorectal cancer. *N Engl J Med.* 2003;348(10):919-932. doi: 10.1056/NEJMra012242.

45. Woods MO, Hyde AJ, Curtis FK, et al. High frequency of hereditary colorectal cancer in Newfoundland likely involves novel susceptibility genes. *Clin Cancer Res.* 2005;11(19 Pt 1):6853-6861. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-05-0726.

46. Rahman P, Jones A, Curtis J, et al. The Newfoundland population: A unique resource for genetic investigation of complex diseases. *Hum Mol Genet*. 2003;12 Spec No 2:R167-72. doi: 10.1093/hmg/ddg257.

47. Kravochuck SE, Kalady MF, Burke CA, Heald B, Church JM. Defining HNPCC and Lynch syndrome: What's in a name? *Gut.* 2014;63(9):1525-1526. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307344; 10.1136/gutjnl-2014-307344.

48. Jass JR. Hereditary non-polyposis colorectal cancer: The rise and fall of a confusing term. *World J Gastroenterol*. 2006;12(31):4943-4950.

49. Green RC, Parfrey PS, Woods MO, Younghusband HB. Prediction of Lynch syndrome in consecutive patients with colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst*. 2009;101(5):331-340. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djn499.

50. Boland CR, Thibodeau SN, Hamilton SR, et al. A national cancer institute workshop on microsatellite instability for cancer detection and familial predisposition: Development of international criteria for the determination of microsatellite instability in colorectal cancer. *Cancer Res.* 1998;58(22):5248-5257.

51. Perez-Carbonell L, Ruiz-Ponte C, Guarinos C, et al. Comparison between universal molecular screening for Lynch Syndrome and Revised Bethesda Guidelines in a large population-based cohort of patients with colorectal cancer. *Gut.* 2011. doi: 10.1136/gutjnl-2011-300041.

52. Burt R, Neklason DW. Genetic testing for inherited colon cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 2005;128(6):1696-1716.

53. Win AK, Lindor NM, Young JP, et al. Risks of primary extracolonic cancers following colorectal cancer in Lynch syndrome. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2012;104(18):1363-1372. doi: 10.1093/jnci/djs351.

54. Leach FS, Nicolaides NC, Papadopoulos N, et al. Mutations of a mutS homolog in hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Cell*. 1993;75(6):1215-1225. doi: 0092-8674(93)90330-S [pii].

55. Fishel R, Lescoe MK, Rao MR, et al. The human mutator gene homolog MSH2 and its association with hereditary nonpolyposis colon cancer. *Cell*. 1994;77(1):1 p following 166.

56. Bronner CE, Baker SM, Morrison PT, et al. Mutation in the DNA mismatch repair gene homologue hMLH1 is associated with hereditary non-polyposis colon cancer. *Nature*. 1994;368(6468):258-261. doi: 10.1038/368258a0 [doi].

57. Papadopoulos N, Nicolaides NC, Wei YF, et al. Mutation of a mutL homolog in hereditary colon cancer. *Science*. 1994;263(5153):1625-1629.

58. Akiyama Y, Sato H, Yamada T, et al. Germ-line mutation of the hMSH6/GTBP gene in an atypical hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer kindred. *Cancer Res.* 1997;57(18):3920-3923.

59. Scott RJ, McPhillips M, Meldrum CJ, et al. Hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer in 95 families: Differences and similarities between mutation-positive and mutation-negative kindreds. *Am J Hum Genet*. 2001;68(1):118-127.
60. Woods MO, Younghusband HB, Parfrey PS, et al. The genetic basis of colorectal cancer in a population-based incident cohort with a high rate of familial disease. *Gut.* 2010;59(10):1369-1377. doi: 10.1136/gut.2010.208462.

61. Lindor NM, Rabe K, Petersen GM, et al. Lower cancer incidence in Amsterdam-I Criteria families without mismatch repair deficiency: Familial colorectal cancer type X. *JAMA*. 2005;293(16):1979-1985. doi: 10.1001/jama.293.16.1979.

62. Klarskov L, Holck S, Bernstein I, Nilbert M. Hereditary colorectal cancer diagnostics: Morphological features of familial colorectal cancer type X versus Lynch syndrome. *J Clin Pathol.* 2012;65(4):352-356. doi: 10.1136/jclinpath-2011-200535; 10.1136/jclinpath-2011-200535.

63. Umar A, Boland CR, Terdiman JP, et al. Revised Bethesda Guidelines for hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer (Lynch syndrome) and microsatellite instability. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2004;96(4):261-268.

64. Morrison J, Bronner M, Leach BH, Downs-Kelly E, Goldblum JR, Liu X. Lynch syndrome screening in newly diagnosed colorectal cancer in general pathology practice: From the Revised Bethesda Guidelines to a universal approach. *Scand J Gastroenterol*. 2011;46(11):1340-1348. doi: 10.3109/00365521.2011.610003.

65. Green RC, Green AG, Simms M, Pater A, Robb JD, Green JS. Germline hMLH1 promoter mutation in a Newfoundland HNPCC kindred. *Clin Genet*. 2003;64(3):220-227.

66. Cotterchio M, Manno M, Klar N, McLaughlin J, Gallinger S. Colorectal screening is associated with reduced colorectal cancer risk: A case-control study within the population-based Ontario Familial Colorectal Cancer Registry. *Cancer Causes Control*. 2005;16(7):865-875. doi: 10.1007/s10552-005-2370-3.

67. Zarychanski R, Chen Y, Bernstein CN, Hebert PC. Frequency of colorectal cancer screening and the impact of family physicians on screening behaviour. *CMAJ*. 2007;177(6):593-597. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.070558.

68. de Jong AE, Hendriks YM, Kleibeuker JH, et al. Decrease in mortality in lynch syndrome families because of surveillance. *Gastroenterology*. 2006;130(3):665-671. doi: 10.1053/j.gastro.2005.11.032.

69. Ciccolallo L, Capocaccia R, Coleman MP, et al. Survival differences between European and US patients with colorectal cancer: Role of stage at diagnosis and surgery. *Gut.* 2005;54(2):268-273. doi: 54/2/268 [pii].

70. Canadian Partnership Against Cancer. Colorectal cancer screening in canada: Monitoring & evaluation of quality indicators - Results report, January 2011 - December 2012. 2014.

71. Lindholm E, Brevinge H, Haglind E. Survival benefit in a randomized clinical trial of faecal occult blood screening for colorectal cancer. *Br J Surg*. 2008;95(8):1029-1036. doi: 10.1002/bjs.6136.

72. Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. Colorectal cancer screening: Recommendation statement from the Canadian task force on preventive health care. 2001;165(2):206.

73. Dunfield L, Shane A, Fitzpatrick-Lewis D, Bacchus M. Protocol: Screening for colorectal cancer. 2013 (revised 2014).

74. Canadian Task Force on Preventive Health Care. Recommendations on screening for colorectal cancer in primary care. *Canadian Medical Association Journal*. 2016;188(5):340-348. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.151125.

75. Leddin D, Hunt R, Champion M, et al. Canadian association of gastroenterology and the Canadian digestive health foundation: Guidelines on colon cancer screening. *Can J Gastroenterol*. 2004;18(2):93-99.

76. Leddin DJ, Enns R, Hilsden R, et al. Canadian association of gastroenterology position statement on screening individuals at average risk for developing colorectal cancer: 2010. *Can J Gastroenterol*. 2010;24(12):705-714.

77. Stuckless S, Green J, Morgenstern M, et al. Impact of colonoscopic screening in male and female Lynch syndrome carriers with an MSH2 mutation. *Clin Genet*. 2012;82(5):439-445. doi: 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2011.01802.x; 10.1111/j.1399-0004.2011.01802.x.

78. Jarvinen HJ, Aarnio M, Mustonen H, et al. Controlled 15-year trial on screening for colorectal cancer in families with hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 2000;118(5):829-834.

79. Wirtzfeld DA, Mikula L, Gryfe R, et al. Concordance with clinical practice guidelines for adjuvant chemotherapy in patients with stage I-III colon cancer: Experience in 2 Canadian provinces. *Can J Surg.* 2009;52(2):92-97.

80. Mehrkhani F, Nasiri S, Donboli K, Meysamie A, Hedayat A. Prognostic factors in survival of colorectal cancer patients after surgery. *Colorectal Dis.* 2009;11(2):157-161. doi: 10.1111/j.1463-1318.2008.01556.x [doi].

81. Bejan-Angoulvant T, Bouvier AM, Bossard N, et al. Hazard regression model and cure rate model in colon cancer relative survival trends: Are they telling the same story? *Eur J Epidemiol*. 2008;23(4):251-259. doi: 10.1007/s10654-008-9226-6.

82. Price T, Pittman K, Patterson W, et al. Management and survival trends in advanced colorectal cancer. *Clin Oncol (R Coll Radiol)*. 2008;20(8):626-630. doi: 10.1016/j.clon.2008.04.014.

83. Gatta G, Capocaccia R, Sant M, et al. Understanding variations in survival for colorectal cancer in Europe: A EUROCARE high resolution study. *Gut*. 2000;47(4):533-538.

84. Allemani C, Rachet B, Weir HK, et al. Colorectal cancer survival in the USA and Europe: A CONCORD high-resolution study. *BMJ Open*. 2013;3(9):e003055-2013-003055. doi: 10.1136/bmjopen-2013-003055 [doi].

85. Lang K, Korn JR, Lee DW, Lines LM, Earle CC, Menzin J. Factors associated with improved survival among older colorectal cancer patients in the US: A population-based analysis. *BMC Cancer*. 2009;9:227-2407-9-227. doi: 10.1186/1471-2407-9-227 [doi].

86. Yang Y, Wang G, He J, et al. Gender differences in colorectal cancer survival: A metaanalysis. *Int J Cancer*. 2017. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30827 [doi].

87. Hendifar A, Yang D, Lenz F, et al. Gender disparities in metastatic colorectal cancer survival. *Clin Cancer Res*. 2009;15(20):6391-6397. doi: 10.1158/1078-0432.CCR-09-0877 [doi].

88. Hodgson DC, Fuchs CS, Ayanian JZ. Impact of patient and provider characteristics on the treatment and outcomes of colorectal cancer. *J Natl Cancer Inst.* 2001;93(7):501-515.

89. Wang N, Khankari NK, Cai H, et al. Prediagnosis body mass index and waist-hip circumference ratio in association with colorectal cancer survival. *Int J Cancer*. 2017;140(2):292-301. doi: 10.1002/ijc.30459 [doi].

90. Murphy TK, Calle EE, Rodriguez C, Kahn HS, Thun MJ. Body mass index and colon cancer mortality in a large prospective study. *Am J Epidemiol*. 2000;152(9):847-854

91. Parajuli R, Bjerkaas E, Tverdal A, Le Marchand L, Weiderpass E, Gram IT. Cigarette smoking and colorectal cancer mortality among 602,242 Norwegian males and females. *Clin Epidemiol.* 2014;6:137-145. doi: 10.2147/CLEP.S58722 [doi].

92. Phipps AI, Baron J, Newcomb PA. Prediagnostic smoking history, alcohol consumption, and colorectal cancer survival. *Cancer*. 2011;117(21):4948-4957. doi: 10.1002/cncr.26114.

93. Westlake PJ, Bryant HE, Huchcroft SA, Sutherland LR. Frequency of hereditary nonpolyposis colorectal cancer in southern Alberta. *Dig Dis Sci.* 1991;36(10):1441-1447.

94. Sankila R, Aaltonen LA, Jarvinen HJ, Mecklin JP. Better survival rates in patients with MLH1-associated hereditary colorectal cancer. *Gastroenterology*. 1996;110(3):682-687. doi: S0016508596001114 [pii].

95. Guastadisegni C, Colafranceschi M, Ottini L, Dogliotti E. Microsatellite instability as a marker of prognosis and response to therapy: A meta-analysis of colorectal cancer survival data. *Eur J Cancer*. 2010;46(15):2788-2798. doi: 10.1016/j.ejca.2010.05.009 [doi].

96. Phipps AI, Ahnen DJ, Campbell PT, et al. Family history of colorectal cancer is not associated with colorectal cancer survival regardless of microsatellite instability status. *Cancer Epidemiol Biomarkers Prev.* 2014;23(8):1700-1704. doi: 10.1158/1055-9965.EPI-14-0533 [doi].

97. Easson AM, Cotterchio M, Crosby JA, et al. A population-based study of the extent of surgical resection of potentially curable colon cancer. *Ann Surg Oncol.* 2002;9(4):380-387.

 Table 1A: CRC Predicted Number of Deaths for Males and Females in Canada, ON, and

 NL in 2006

	Canada	ON	NL
Males	4600	1650	120
Females	3900	1450	95

 Table 1B: CRC Predicted Number of Deaths for Males and Females in Canada, ON, and

 NL in 2009

	Canada	ON	NL
Males	4900	1800	130
Females	4200	1500	100

Table 2A: CRC Actual Number of Deaths for Males and Females in Canada, ON, and NL in 2006

	Canada	ON	NL
Males	4400	1650	130
Females	3800	1400	75

Table 2B: CRC Actual Number of Deaths for Males and Females in Canada, ON, and NL in 2009

	Canada	ON	NL
Males	4600	1650	130
Females	4000	1450	90

			Colon Cancer Cas	ies
		NL N=510(%)	NL* N= 344(%)	ON N=906(%)
Mean Age		61.4	61.1	60.9
C.	Male	294 (57.6)	197 (57.3)	466 (51.4)
Sex	Female	216 (42.4)	147 (42.7)	440 (48.6)
	1	73 (14.3)	66 (19.2)	167 (18.4)
	2	171 (33.5)	140 (40.7)	363 (40.1)
Stage	3	142 (27.9)	103 (29.9)	256 (28.3)
	4	124 (24.3)	35 (10.2)	77 (8.5)
	Unknown	0	0	43 (4.7)
Adiuvant	Yes	198 (38.8)	158 (45.9)	395 (43.6)
Treatment Received	No	309 (60.6)	184 (53.5)	491 (54.2)
	Unknown	3 (0.6)	2 (0.6)	20 (2.2)
	High	71 (13.9)	59 (17.2)	162 (17.9)
MSI	Low/Stable	423 (83.0)	273 (79.4)	655 (72.3)
	Unknown	16 (3.1)	12 (3.5)	89 (9.8)
	≤18.5 (Underweight)	6 (1.2)	2 (0.6)	15 (1.6)
	18.5-24.9 (Normal)	140 (27.4)	91 (26.5)	288 (31.8)
BMI	25.0-29.9 (Overweight)	175 (34.3)	119 (34.6)	366 (40.4)
	≥30.0 (Obese)	131 (25.7)	91 (26.5)	164 (18.1)
	Unknown	<u> </u>	41 (11.9)	/ 5 (8.1)
	never	143 (28.0)	92 (20.7)	344 (38.0)
Smoking	Former	233 (45.7)	162 (47.1)	441 (48.7)
Status	Current	98 (19.2)	60 (17.4)	77 (8.5)
	Unknown	36 (7.1)	30 (8.7)	44 (4.8)

Table 3: Prognostic factors at diagnosis in incident colon cancer patients in NL and ON

*Excluding cases recruited through proxy consent

	X ²	р	df
Sex	5.1	.024	1
Age	7.3	.063	3
Stage	62.9	.000	3
Adjuvant treatment	4.0	.045	1
MSI	6.3	.012	1
BMI	14.5	.002	3
Smoking	40.4	.000	2

Table 4: Patient demographics compared by province (chi-squared)

Table 5: Adjuvant treatment administered in NL and ON by stage

	Adjuvant	NL, including proxies	NL, excluding proxies	ON
	administered	N=507 (%)	N=342 (%)	N=886 (%)
	Yes	2 (2.7)	2 (3.0)	5 (3.0)
Stage 1	No	71 (97.3)	64 (97.0)	161 (97.0)
	Total	73 (100)	66 (100)	166 (100)
	Yes	54 (32.0)	46 (33.3)	132 (36.6)
Stage 2	No	115 (68.0)	92 (66.7)	229 (63.4)
	Total	169 (100)	138 (100)	361 (100)
	Yes	126 (89.4)	101 (98.1)	240 (95.6)
Stage 3	No	15 (10.6)	2 (1.9)	11 (4.4)
	Total	141 (100)	103 (100)	251 (100)
	Yes	16 (12.9)	9 (25.7)	14 (21.5)
Stage 4	No	108 (87.1)	26 (74.3)	51 (78.5)
	Total	124 (100)	35 (100)	65 (100)

Table 6: BMI in NL and ON by Gender

	DMI	NL	ON	
	BMI	N= 452 (%)	N= 833 (%)	
	Low <18.5	2 (0.8)	2 (0.5)	
	Normal 18.5-24.9	64 (24.2)	94 (22.2)	
Male	Overweight 25.0-29.9	109 (41.3)	233 (55.0)	
	Obese ≥30	89 (33.7)	95 (22.4)	
	Total	264 (100)	424 (100)	
	Low <18.5	4 (2.1)	13 (3.2)	
Female	Normal 18.5-24.9	76 (40.4)	194 (47.4)	
	Overweight 25.0-29.9	66 (35.1)	133 (32.5)	
	Obese ≥30	42 (22.3)	69 (16.9)	
	Total	188 (100)	409 (100)	

	Smalring Status	NL	ON	
	Smoking Status		N= 862 (%)	
	Never	53 (19.3)	131 (29.9)	
Male	Former	170 (61.8)	266 (60.7)	
	Current	52 (18.9)	41 (9.4)	
	Total	275 (100)	438 (100)	
	Never	90 (45.2)	213 (50.2)	
Female	Former	63 (31.7)	175 (41.3)	
	Current	46 (23.1)	36 (8.5)	
	Total	199 (100)	424 (100)	

Table 7: Smoking Status in NL and ON by Gender

Non-Enrolled NL Colon Cancer Cases N=289(%)				
Sex	Male	151 (52.2)		
	Female	138 (47.7)		
Age at diagnosis	<=49	25 (8.7)		
	50-59	67 (23.2)		
	60-69	118 (40.8)		
	>=70	79 (27.3)		
Vital Status	Dead	92 (31.8)		
	Alive	197 (68.2)		

 Table 9: Univariate Analysis Overall Stages 1-4 and Unknown Stage Cases Comparing NL and ON

Province	Total N	N of Events	Censored		
TTOVINCE			Ν	Percent	
NL	510	250	260	51.0%	
ON 906		322	584	64.5%	
Overall 1416		572	844	59.6%	

	Mean			Median				
Province	e Estimate Std. Error 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000 1000	Confidence terval	Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval			
		Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
NL	81.9	2.6	76.8	87.0	94.2	7.6	79.2	109.1
ON	84.2	1.8	80.6	87.7	85.2	2.7	80.0	90.4
Overall	85.9	1.6	82.9	89.0	93.8	2.3	89.3	98.4

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	6.677	1	.010

Table 10: Univariate Analysis Overall Stages 1-4 Excluding Unknown Stage CasesComparing NL and ON

Province	Total N	N of Events	Cens	sored
Trovince			Ν	Percent
NL	510	250	260	51.0%
ON	863	314	549	63.6%
Overall	1373	564	809	58.9%

		Μ	ean		Median			
Province	Estimate	stimate Std. 95% Con		onfidence erval	Estimate	Std.	95% Co Int	onfidence erval
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
NL	81.9	2.6	76.8	87.0	94.2	7.6	79.2	109.1
ON	83.6	1.8	80.0	87.2	84.7	2.7	79.4	90.0
Overall	85.5	1.6	82.4	88.6	93.8	2.7	88.6	99.0

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	5.484	1	.019

Drovinco	Total N	N of Events (9/)	Cen	Censored N Percent		
rrovince	Total IN	N of Events (%)		Percent		
NL	73	21	52	71.2%		
ON	167	30	137	82.0%		
Overall	240	51	189	78.8%		

Table 11A: Univ	ariate Survival	Analysis for S	Stage 1 Colon	Cancer in NL	& ON
-----------------	-----------------	----------------	---------------	---------------------	------

	Mean					Median			
Province	vince Estimate Std. 95% Confidence Estimate	Std. 95% Confidence 95% Confidence Std. Interval Std.		nfidence erval					
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
NL	107.3	5.5	96.4	118.1	133.2	15.7	102.3	164.0	
ON	103.9	4.2	95.6	112.1	101.8	5.89	90.3	113.3	
Overall	106.8	3.4	100.2	113.4	107.6	4.4	99.0	116.2	

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	.093	1	.760

Province	Total N	N of Events	Censored		
			Ν	Percent	
NL	171	51	130	70.2%	
ON	363	112	251	69.1%	
Overall	534	163	371	69.5%	

Table	11 R :	Univa	riate S	Survival	Anal	vsis for	Stage	20	Colon	Cancer	in N	L &	ON
abic	IID.	Univa	i late	Juivivai	Anai	y 515 101	Juage	4	_01011	Cancer	TTT TA	Lu	

		Μ	ean		Median			
Province	Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval		Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval	
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound
			Dound	Dound			Douna	Dound
NL	108.2	3.8	100.7	115.7	139.9			
ON	88.0	2.6	82.8	93.1	91.0	5.5	80.3	101.8
Overall	97.1	2.4	92.5	101.8	101.9	4.745	92.6	111.2

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	7.704	1	.006

Drovinco	Total N	N of Evonts	Censored		
riovince	I otal IN	IN OF EVEnts	Ν	Percent	
NL	142	62	80	56.3%	
ON	256	104	152	59.4%	
Overall	398	166	232	58.3%	

Table	11C:	Univ	ariate	Surviva	l Ana	lvsis	for	Stage	3	Colon	Cancer	in	NL	&	ON
Labic	110.	Univ	arrace	Suiviva		11 y 515	101	Diage	0	COIOII	Cancer	111 .		u	

		Μ	ean		Median				
Province	Estimate	Std.	95% Co Inte	onfidence erval	Estimate	Std.	95% Co Int	onfidence erval	
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
NL	87.8	4.7	78.7	97.0	105.0	8.1	89.1	120.9	
ON	79.6	3.5	72.8	86.5	77.6	3.9	69.9	85.2	
Overall	86.6	3.0	80.8	92.4	88.3	4.5	79.4	97.1	

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	1.277	1	.259

Province	Total N	N of Events	Censored		
			N	Percent	
NL	124	116	8	6.5%	
ON	77	68	9	11.7%	
Overall	201	184	17	8.5%	

Table 11D: Univariate Surviv	al Analysis for Stage 4	4 Colon Cancer in	1 NL & ON
------------------------------	-------------------------	-------------------	-----------

		Me	ean		Median				
Province	Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval		Estimate	Std.	95% Co Inte	onfidence erval	
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
NL	25.6	2.6	20.6	30.6	15.0	2.1	10.8	19.2	
ON	34.8	2.8	29.4	40.2	30.6	2.2	26.3	34.8	
Overall	29.4	2.0	25.6	33.2	21.0	1.9	17.3	24.7	

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	5.368	1	.021

Province	Total N	N of Events	Cen	Censored		
			Ν	Percent		
NL	386	134	252	65.3%		
ON	786	246	540	68.7%		
Overall	1172	380	792	67.6%		

Table 12	• Univariate	Analysis ()verall (Stages 1.3	Comparin	o NL and	ON
I abit 14		Allaly 515 (Jycian	Stages 1-5	Comparin	ig i'il anu '	

		Me	ean		Median				
Province	Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval		Estimate	Std.	95% Confidence Interval		
		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound		Error	Lower Bound	Upper Bound	
NL	100.0	2.7	94.7	105.3	133.2	21.7	90.5	175.8	
	100.0	2.7	21.7	105.5	155.2	21.7	70.5	175.0	
ON	88.6	1.9	84.8	92.3	89.7	3.2	83.5	96.0	
Overall	95.5	1.7	92.2	98.7	101.2	3.0	95.4	107.1	

	Chi-Square	df	Sig.
Log-Rank (Mantel- Cox)	4.841	1	.028

Table 13. Multivariate Survivar Analysis Stages 1-3

		N = 1172 (%)
	Event	316 (27.0)
Cases available in analysis	Censored	671 (57.3)
	Total	987 (84.2
Cases dropped	Cases with missing values	185 (15.8)
	Censored before earliest event	0

	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% CI for Exp(B)	
		r (-)	Lower	Upper
NL compared to ON	.023	.753	.589	.961
Males compared to females	.034	1.305	1.021	1.669
Receiving compared to not receiving adjuvant treatment	.000	.486	.337	.699
Never smokers compared to current smokers	.040	.663	.448	.981
Stage 1 compared to Stage 3	.000	.198	.121	.324
Stage 2 compared to Stage 3	.000	.385	.268	.552

Table 14A: Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 1

		N = 240 (%)
Cases available in analysis	Event	39 (16.3)
	Censored	158 (65.8)
	Total	197 (82.1)
Cases dropped	Cases with missing values	42 (17.5)
	Censored before earliest event	1 (0.4)

	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% CI for Exp(B)	
	- · ·	Lower	Upper	
NL compared to ON	.213	1.647	.751	3.609

Table 14B: Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 2

		N = 534 (%)
Cases available in analysis	Event	133 (24.9)
	Censored	308 (57.7)
	Total	441 (82.6)
Cases dropped	Cases with missing values	92 (17.2)
	Censored before earliest event	1 (0.2)

	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% CI for Exp(B)	
			Lower	Upper
NL compared to ON	.041	.669	.455	.983

Table 14C: Multivariate Survival Analysis Stage 3

		N = 398 (%)
	Event	144 (36.2)
Cases available in analysis	Censored	203 (51.0)
	Total	347 (87.2)
Cases dropped	Cases with missing values	51 (12.8)
	Censored before earliest event	0

	Sig.	Exp(B)	95.0% CI for Exp(B)	
		Lower	Upper	
NL compared to ON	.079	.711	.486	1.040



























Figure 7B: Univariate Survival Analysis for Stage 2 Colon Cancer in NL & ON









APPENDIX A

Amsterdam Criteria I (1991)

- At least three relatives have histologically verified colorectal cancer (CRC); one of them should be a first-degree relative of the other two. Familial adenomatous polyposis (FAP) should be excluded
- At least two successive generations should be affected
- One of the relatives should be below 50 years of age when the CRC is diagnosed

Amsterdam Criteria II (1998)

- There should be at least three relatives with an HNPCC-associated cancer (CRC, endometrial, small bowel, ureter, or renal pelvis malignancy)
- One affected relatives should be a first-degree relative of the other two
- At least two successive generations should be affected
- At least one malignancy should be diagnosed before age 50 years
- FAP should be excluded in the CRC(s)
- Tumours should be verified by pathological examination

APPENDIX B

Original Bethesda Guidelines (1997)

Tumours should be tested for MSI in the following situations:

- Individuals with cancer in families that meet the Amsterdam Criteria
- Individuals with two HNPCC-related cancers, including synchronous and metachronous CRCs or associated extracolonic cancers*
- Individuals with CRC and a first-degree relative with CRC and/or HNPCC-related extracolonic cancer and/or a colorectal adenoma; one of the cancers diagnosed at age less than 45 years, and the adenoma diagnosed at age less than 40 years
- Individuals with CRC or endometrial cancer diagnosed at age less than 45 years
- Individuals with right-sided CRC with an undifferentiated pattern (solid/cribriform) on histopathology diagnosed at age less than 45 years
- Individuals with signet-ring-cell-type CRC diagnosed at age less than 45 years
- Individuals with adenomas diagnosed at age less than 40 years

Revised Bethesda Guidelines (2004)

Tumours should be tested for MSI in the following situations:

- CRC diagnosed in a patient who is less than 50 years of age
- Presence of synchronous, metachronous colorectal, or other HNPCC-associated tumours*, regardless of age
- CRC with the MSI-H histology diagnosed in a patient who is less than 60 years of age

- CRC diagnosed in one or more first-degree relatives with an HNPCC-related tumour, with one of the cancers being diagnosed under age 50 years
- CRC diagnosed in two or more first- or second-degree relatives with HNPCC-related tumours, regardless of age

*HNPCC-related tumours include colorectal, endometrial, stomach, ovarian, pancreas, ureter and renal pelvis, biliary tract, and brain (usually glioblastoma as seen in Turcot syndrome) tumours, sebaceous gland adenomas and keratoacanthomas in Muir-Torre syndrome, and carcinoma of the small bowel.